
Please ask for  Julie Britton e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information 
only 

 
 
 

Committee - GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 

COMMITTEE 

Date & Time - Thursday, 23rd June, 2022 at 10.00 am 

Venue - The Breckland Conference Centre, 
Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole 
Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE 

 
 

THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE 
ACTIVATED AT THE START OF THE MEETING 

 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings 

 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 
 

Members 
  
Cllr Bill Borrett (Chairman) 
Cllr Robert Kybird (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Harry Clarke 
 

Cllr Kay Grey 
Cllr Robert Hambidge 
Cllr Linda Monument 
 

 
 

Democratic Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Tuesday, 14 June 2022  
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings


Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 

 

 

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. MINUTES  4 - 15 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2022. 
 

 

2. ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM)   

3. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

4. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 

 

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council. 
 

 

6. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting. 
 

 

7. Q1 RISK REPORT  16 - 36 

 Report by Councillor Jane James, Executive Member for Customer & 
Corporate Services. 
 

 

8. INTERNAL AUDIT YEAR END PROGRESS REPORT 2021/22  37 - 67 

 Report by Faye Haywood, Head of Internal Audit. 
 

 

9. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 2021/22  68 - 86 

 Report by Faye Haywood, Head of Internal Audit. 
 

 

10. ANNUAL REPORT ON THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT SERVICE AND 
ACTUAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2021/22  

87 - 109 

 Report by Councillor Phil Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue & 
Benefits. 
 

 

11. TRAINING (STANDING ITEM)   

 To note if there are any training issues/ requests. 
 

 



Governance and Audit Committee 
23 June 2022 

 
 
 Page(s) 

herewith 

12. WORK PROGRAMME  110 - 
111 

 A copy of the Committee’s work programme is attached.  The Committee is 
asked to consider whether any additions, deletions or amendments to the 
programme are required. 
 

 

13. NEXT MEETING   

 To note the arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Thursday, 28 
July 2022 at 10am in the Anglia Room.  
 

 

 



1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

Held on Thursday, 10 February 2022 at 10.00 am in 
The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 

 
PRESENT  
Cllr Robert Kybird (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Harry Clarke 
Cllr Kay Grey 
 

Cllr Jane James 
Cllr Linda Monument 
 

 
Also Present  
Mr D. Fowler 
Mrs F. Haywood 
 

Cllr Timothy Birt 
Cllr Mark Robinson 
 

 
In Attendance  
Alison Chubbock - Section 151 Officer & Assistant Director 

Finance 
Faye Haywood - Head of Internal Audit 
Ryan Pack - Innovation and Change Business Partner 
Claire Burton - Organisational Development Performance 

Manager 
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer 

 
 Action By 
 Councillor Kybird, Vice-Chairman of the Committee in the Chair.   
   
1/22  MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)   
  
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 2 December 2021 were agreed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chairman subject to Mr David Fowler’s 
name being added to the list of those present. 
 

 

2/22 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2)  

 

  
 None. 

 
 

3/22  APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3)   
  
 An apology for absence was received from the Chairman, Councillor Bill 

Borrett. 
 

 

4/22  URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4)   
  
 None. 

 
 

5/22  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5)   
  
 None declared.  

4

Agenda Item 1



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

6/22 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 6)  

 

  
 Councillors Birt and Robinson. 

 
 

7/22  TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7)   
  
 None. 

 
 

8/22  Q4 STRATEGIC RISK REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 8)   
  
 Councillor Mark Robinson, the Executive Member for Customer, Digital & 

Performance presented the Q4 Strategic Risk report. 
 
It was noted that a new risk had been added to the register since the last 
Governance & Audit Committee meeting, strategic contract monitoring. 
This risk had been suggested as best practice and was a low risk due to 
the systems and processes currently in place. 
 
The register also included 4 high risks in respect of cyber security, 
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), waste consultation and 
emerging Government policy. The latest notes section included under 
each risk provided further details. 
 
Ryan Pack, the Innovation & Change Business Partner was also in 
attendance and provided Members with further information in respect of 
the high category risks. 
 
The cyber security risk was still under investigation following the cyber 
incident during Q3, and therefore had not progressed but was hopeful that 
further information could be provided at the next meeting in Q1.   
 
The HGV driver shortages risk was now at its target level and would be 
reviewed in Q1 to establish if it still met the criteria as a strategic risk or 
whether it could be absorbed into the operational staffing risk; this would 
be at the Committee’s discretion. 
 
All ‘next review’ dates had been set at 1 April 2022. It was explained that 
ahead of the Q1 risk report, these risks would be reviewed to ensure that 
they still met the criteria for a strategic risk and if it did, a new target date 
would be set.   
 
Councillor Monument referred to the ‘critical breach of ICT security’ risk 
and asked for the actual ‘current score’ to be confirmed as it had been 
included on the register as 4x4 and the same for the previous score but in 
both cases, it had been listed as a 12 but in her opinion, it should be a 16.  
 
The Innovation & Change Business Partner confirmed that it should be a 
score of 16 and would be amended accordingly. 
 
The Chairman, Councillor Kybird felt that the answer to the satisfaction of 
this risk may not be suitable for reporting in public and asked how this 
would be dealt with. 
 
Members were informed that this matter would be discussed as to 
whether it should be reported ‘below the line’ or not and further 

 

5



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

discussions would be had with ICT and the Executive Director to establish 
how this should be dealt with.    
 
Councillor Clarke asked a question in relation to the risk ‘increased 
demand on Housing services’, in respect of the serious shortfall in 
available and affordable temporary housing options, listed under the first 
the first bullet point under the heading potential consequences, as well as 
the second bullet point where it stated, ‘a shortfall in available longer-term 
housing’. He suggested that it might be helpful to have a link included on 
the register anything that was happening with Breckland Bridge and also 
the Local Plan. 
 
The Innovation & Change Business Partner thanked Councillor Clarke for 
his comments and his suggestions would be considered.  The housing 
risk did need to be re-framed at some point as this register dealt with the 
legislative impact on demand and perhaps the wider impact needed to be 
looked at instead. 
 
The Chairman presumed that when the Elm House development was 
completed some of this risk would be satisfied.  
 
Members were informed that the Elm House development had been 
included under the action plan and once this action plan had been 
fulfilled, the risk would be lowered.  
 
Councillor Birt asked the following questions: 
 

 Page 18 – increased in demand in housing services:  why had the 
risk not been elevated given the likelihood of future increases in 
utilities.  

 Page 22 – Sustainability Strategy: Members should have received 
an annual update on this matter and was now overdue - what 
slippage would be required to change the ‘RAG’ rating.  

 Page 25 – Failure to Deliver the Local Plan and its Delivery Plan: 
the description only referred to reputational damage, what did that 
actually cover.  

 
In response to the above questions, the Innovation & Change Business 
Partner explained that for housing that risk was re-introduced and raised 
as a result of the Covid impact on the number of people that were being 
seen in that service and had subsequently been raised based on the 
likelihood of increased utilities.  In relation to the Sustainable Strategy, 
Members were informed that the Council had a target date of 2035 and 
was reviewed annually to take account of any slippage, but he would 
check with Greg Pearson, the Head of Strategic Policy, in terms of what 
was happening with this. As far as the Local Plan was concerned, under 
consequences the financial impact was also listed, and the description 
would be looked at again to ensure that this was all encompassing. 
 
The Chairman concurred with the points raised about the Local Plan and 
under Sustainability, verbal updates had been provided by the Executive 
Member at the Full Council meetings. 
 
On another matter, Councillor Birt drew attention to page 35 of the 
agenda pack, as he had asked previously questioned the last row on the 
chart and wondered if there was any update on this matter.   

6



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

 
Councillor Birt’s points about the scoring methodology would be taken on 
board and would be changed moving forward.  In terms of the likelihood, 
this was picked up as part of the Risk Policy review undertaken but was 
comfortable in terms of the probability moving forward as the percentages 
formed part of the risk appetite statement.       
 
Taking all the aforementioned points into account, the report was 
otherwise noted. 
 

9/22 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY UP TO 31 
JANUARY 2022 IN RELATION TO THE COMPLETION OF THE 
ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN FOR 2021/22 (AGENDA ITEM 9)  

 

  
 Faye Haywood, the Head of Internal Audit presented the report. 

 
At the last Committee meeting in 2021, there had not been any results to 
highlight as the Audit Plan had been delayed but during the period 
covered for this report, five assurance reports had been finalised (see 
section 4.4 of the report) and as a result 12 recommendations had been 
raised and agreed by management. There were no negative assurance 
ratings to highlight. 
 
At section 5 of the report, it explained the reasons for the delays in 
Quarter 2 and Quarter 3 but all work should be completed by the year 
end. 
 
The progress in completion of the agreed audit work could be seen in 
Appendix 1 on page 43 of the agenda pack. 
 
Members’ attention was then drawn to Appendix 2 of the agenda pack, 
the Executive summary and the first one, Accountancy services, there 
were not any urgent audit recommendations.  The focus then turned to 
the reasonable assurances and where a number of important 
recommendations had been raised. 
 
Under Payroll and Human Resources on page 51 of the agenda pack, 2 
important recommendations had been raised.  The first related to staff 
and not always submitting VAT receipts with their expense claims for fuel 
costs – all staff would be advised to attach receipts for their expenses 
claims.  
 
The second point related to the current disclaimer used by Members 
when submitting mileage expense claims should be reviewed and 
additional wording added to include confirmation that Members also have 
a valid, current drivers’ licence, tax and a current MOT. 
 
Moving to Covid 19 Business Grants, 4 important recommendations had 
been raised but it was felt important to highlight at this point that 
throughout 2020/21, £53.4m across 13 schemes and 14,000 applications 
had been processed.  The recommendations raised related to just 2 
schemes, and it was felt that some additional controls needed to be 
carried out retrospectively.  These 2 schemes represented 22.5% of the 
overall total amount administered across all schemes.  Management had 
agreed to update the application forms to include key information to 
ensure that evidence was retained as part of the pre-payment checks. Pre 

 

7



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

and post payment assurance plans would be developed for all on-going 
Additional restrictions Grants. 
 
Referring to the Contact Centre, one important recommendation had been 
raised and this related to the introduction of customer surveys to obtain 
customer feedback in order to improve the service further where possible. 
 
The Chairman drew attention to page 53 of the agenda pack and 
questioned the section that stated that ‘all mileage expense claims should 
be promptly submitted and authorised within two months of the journey 
date and felt that it would be more practical to submit claims at the end of 
the month in the month when the journey occurred as to his knowledge 
such claims were signed off on a monthly basis.  
 
In respect of Covid-19 Business Grants, Councillor Clarke hoped that we 
were now over the worst and the Council would not have to be plan for 
such support grants on such a scale in future but felt that it would be 
preferable to revisit those recommendations at a future date. 
 
Members were informed that all recommendations would be followed up 
as part of the follow up process, and if delayed for any reason, these 
would be brought back to the Committee. 
 
Referring to page 53 of the agenda pack, Councillor Birt felt that the point 
about submitting VAT receipts might not always be possible, particularly 
as he tended to use vegetable oil on occasion for his vehicles. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit knew that there would be some unique 
circumstances, but it was still worth aiming for and any exceptions 
needed to be made clear.  
 
On page 59 of the Agenda pack, the digital assistant (‘chat bot’) appeared 
when accessing the Planning Service and the Chairman wondered what 
questions it could deal with in that type of environment.  It also stated 
elsewhere that the ‘chat bot’ currently only provided 20% of correct 
responses and asked if there was a target for any improvement on that. 
 
Members were informed that the Council was aiming for 50% by the end 
of this year.  This was a relatively new area and was something that had 
been picked up as a good practice point and possibly used across other 
councils and remove some of the calls from the Contact Centre.  
 
The Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity up to 31 January 2022 in 
relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22 
was otherwise noted. 
 

10/22 FOLLOW UP REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 
(AGENDA ITEM 10)  

 

  
 Faye Haywood, the Head of Internal Audit presented the report, that 

provided Members with the position on the progress made by 
management in implementing agreed internal Audit recommendations as 
at 31 January 2022. 
 
Members were reminded that if there were any outstanding 
recommendations that had gone past their original agreed date, these 

 

8



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

6 

 Action By 

would be brought back to the Committee for further discussion. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit was pleased to report that there were not any 
urgent or important recommendations outstanding (see page 67 of the 
agenda pack).  
 
Senior Management and responsible Officers had been working really 
hard on the Pentana system to make sure that their recommendations 
were all closed on time.  
 
There were a few low-risk recommendations that needed some attention, 
but these would be monitored accordingly.  
 
The Chairman reminded Members that in the past, where there had been 
a back log of outstanding recommendations, there had been some form of 
detail provided and he felt that it would be preferable to be kept informed 
of what those outstanding recommendations were rather than just being 
provided with a number. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit assured Members that she did have such 
information for the historical recommendations from 2018/19 but did not 
have the detail for the later ones but reported that the housing needs and 
the cyber security recommendations would again need to be extended, 
and the reasons for these extensions were explained.    An update would 
be provided at the next meeting.  
 
It was noted that the ‘Priority 3’ recommendations that needed attention 
did represent ‘nice to have’ recommendations and were not fundamental 
to the control framework.  
 
Mr Fowler, the Independent Member mentioned the 2018/19/20 
outstanding recommendations and although quite a while ago, felt it 
would be helpful to have a more detailed update on progress. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit stated that she would be more than happy to 
provide such information but stressed that these were more lower priority 
recommendations. 
 
The content of the report was otherwise noted. 
 

11/22 STRATEGIC & ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2022/23 (AGENDA 
ITEM 11)  

 

  
 Faye Haywood, the Head of Internal Audit presented the report. 

 
The report provided Members with an overview of the stages followed 
prior to the formulation of the Strategic Internal Audit Plan for 2022/23 to 
2025/26 and the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2022/23. 
 
The main areas of the report contained: 
 

 the Internal Audit Strategy, which was a strategic high-level 
statement on how the internal audit service would be delivered 
and developed in accordance with the charter and how it linked to 
the organisational objectives and priorities; 

 the Strategic Internal Audit Plan, which detailed the plan of work 

 

9



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

7 

 Action By 

for the next three financial years; and 

 the Annual Internal Audit Plan, which detailed the timing and the 
purpose of each audit agreed for inclusion in 2022/23 

 
There was an obligation under the Public Sector Internal Audit Services 
(PSIAS) for the Charter to be periodically reviewed and presented. This 
Charter was therefore reviewed annually by the Head of Internal Audit 
and presented to the Section 151 Officer, Senior Management and the 
Governance and Audit Committee every two years, or as required for 
review. The Charter was last approved in 2021 and would therefore not 
need to be reviewed and approved by the Committee this year. 
 
The purpose of the Internal Audit Strategy (see Appendix 1 of the report) 
was to confirm, how internal audit services would be delivered; how 
internal audit services would be developed in accordance with the internal 
audit charter; how internal audit services linked to organisational 
objectives and priorities; and how the internal audit resource requirements 
had been assessed. 
 
The overarching objective of the Strategic Internal Audit Plan (see 
Appendix 2 of the report) was to provide a comprehensive programme of 
review work over the next three years, with each year providing sufficient 
audit coverage to provide annual opinions, that could be used to inform 
the Councils’ Annual Governance Statement.  
 
Having developed the Strategic Internal Audit Plan, the Annual Internal 
Audit Plan was an extract of this for the forthcoming financial year (see 
Appendix 3 of the report).  The Plan included the areas being reviewed by 
Internal Audit, the number of days for each review, the quarter during 
which the audit would take place and a brief summary and purpose of the 
review. 
 
The report also provided further details of the audit procurement exercise 
(see section 2 at Appendix 1). 
 
The main part of the report that Members would be particularly interested 
in started at Appendix 2 of the report. Meetings had been undertaken with 
all services and their risks had been discussed together with their 
objectives and delivery plans for the year ahead and this work had 
resulted in the Strategic Internal Audit Plan.  The rationale could be seen 
in the last column of the Plan. The ‘orange’ areas represented further 
information awaited and the results of this year to be concluded. 
 
Appendix 3 of the report highlighted the Annual Internal Audit Plan 
2022/23 that included the number of days, and the areas that would be 
looked at that could be seen in the ‘Note’ section.  
 
The Chairman drew attention to page 79 of the agenda pack and the 
change to environmental services subject to a ‘White Paper’ coming 
forward.  This had been booked in for consideration in 2024/25 but if there 
was a required change before then he asked the Head of Internal Audit if 
this matter would be brought forward. 
 
Members were informed that it would be brought forward if necessary. 
 
Councillor Birt referred to Appendix 2 under the heading GDPR Data 

10



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

8 

 Action By 

Protection on page 77 of the agenda pack and felt that it had been quite a 
while since this risk had been reviewed. As this was such a high risk on 
the Risk Register, he asked the Head of Internal Audit how the risk was 
mapped against the frequency of reviews.  
 
Members were informed that the exact same process was followed in the 
previous year, and it could have been that this particular score was not as 
high last year, but the threat had increased; however, there were still a 
number of outstanding recommendations that the Team were working on. 
 
On page 80 of the agenda pack, under private sector housing and HMOs, 
the Chairman pointed out that a number of Members had attended a very 
recent training session on such matters.  He was aware of a recent White 
Paper on levelling up and that private sector housing would be required to 
meet the ‘Decent Homes Standard; however, he was also aware that 
such a standard was currently subject to a review and therefore there 
would be a timetabling issue that would need to be addressed. 
 
Also, on page 86 of the agenda pack, under health & safety, the 
Chairman asked for it to be noted that Breckland Council had recently re-
instated the General Purposes Committee, and such matters would now 
fall under its remit and not the Governance & Audit Committee. 
 
Following a vote, it was 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) the Internal Audit Strategy for 2022/23 be noted and approved; 
b) the Strategic Internal Audit Plan 2022/23 to 2025/26 be noted and 

approved; and 
c) the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2022/23 be noted and approved.  

 
12/22 VERBAL DISCUSSION ON THE SELF ASSESSMENT (AGENDA ITEM 

12)  
 

  
 This item was facilitated by the Head of Internal Audit to provide an 

update on the process and provide a report to the next meeting for 
discussion.  
 
This self-assessment of good practice was carried out on an annual basis 
and the Committee had always viewed itself as having strong controls in 
place and good practices was being followed throughout.  
 
Members were asked if any changes were needed.    
 
The Chairman drew attention to item on ‘Value for Money or Best Value’ 
and was aware that external audit no longer required the Committee to 
express a view on this subject and asked if there needed to be further 
work carried out on this matter, in determining how this authority 
measured its own value for money. 
 
Alison Chubbock, the Assistant Director of Finance & S151 Officer 
explained that whilst the value for money opinion was no longer the same 
from the Council’s External Auditors, they still reported to us as part of the 
accounts and felt that reliance could still be placed on this matter.  The 
External Auditors reported on three specific criteria’s, financial 

 

11



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

9 

 Action By 

sustainability, governance and improving economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness.  Therefore, whilst it was slightly different the same work 
was carried out and the Committee would still receive an annual report 
from Ernst & Young.  
 
The Chairman asked if this should be included in the figures for the Band 
D Council Tax and asked if this could be looked at 
 
Councillor Monument thought it was lovely to see a complete line of ‘ticks’ 
under ‘yes’ but the only query she had was why there was a ‘tick’ in the 
very top box, next to the title.    
 
The Head of Internal Audit asked Members if they agreed with the scores 
of 4 provided at Appendix 1 as she felt that the Governance & Audit 
Committee operated very well and felt that the scores should be re-
visited. 
 
Each assessment score was considered, and it was agreed that the 
following areas should be changed to a score of 5: 
 

 Promoting the principles of good governance and their application 
to decision making 

 Supporting the establishment of arrangements for the governance 
of risk and for effective arrangements to manage risks 

 Supporting the quality of the internal audit activity, particularly by 
underpinning its organisational independence 

 Helping the authority to implement the values of good governance, 
including effective arrangements for countering fraud and 
corruption risks 

 
All the remaining areas would remain at a score of 4. 
 

13/22 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2021-22 (AGENDA ITEM 13)   
  
 Alison Chubbock, the Assistant Director of Finance & S151 officer 

presented the report. 
 
This was the annual report for the Council’s accounting policies in 
preparation for the review of the Statement of Accounts at the next 
meeting in June. 
 
There had been very few changes this year, and essentially were exactly 
the same as reported in the previous year.   
 
There were some areas that had been highlighted in yellow, as had been 
in previous years, in respect of ‘useful lives’ where the Valuer’s report was 
still awaited but this would be updated based on their opinion. 
 
As emphasised each year, there was potential for these policies to 
change very slightly when brought back to the Committee in June and if 
this was the case it would be reported as such; however, the only reason 
for this to happen would be if the Advisor suggested any areas on bad 
debt provision or valuations. It would not change the fundamental polices 
brought before Members at this meeting.  
 
It was noted that the only area that could change was on the appeals 

 

12



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

10 

 Action By 

provision for business rates.  An update would be provided to the Finance 
Team at the end of March.   
 
On page 100 of the agenda pack, under Investment Property, the 
Chairman felt that the suggestion was that the facilities embedded in PFI 
depreciated by 2% per annum over the 33.5 years and subsequently 
presumed that at the end of this period they would only be worth a third.  
He asked if the land value was recorded separately.  
 
Members were informed that land and buildings were recorded separately 
as land did not depreciate and had an endless life. PFI was still included 
on the Council’s balance sheet, but the buildings and land remained with 
the Council.   
 
RESOLVED that the accounting policies for2021-22 at appendix A of the 
report be approved. 
 

14/22 COUNTER FRAUD, CORRUPTION & BRIBERY POLICY, 
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING 
POLICY (AGENDA ITEM 14)  

 

  
 The Assistant Director of Finance &S151 Officer presented the tri-annual 

report  
 
The three policies were all linked and in the interim period they had been 
updated for small changes such as names and job titles and the report 
and associated appendices were the result of a full review which should 
be undertaken at least every three years. 
 
How well these policies had worked was very hard to judge as many of 
the reasons for having such policies in place was for prevention rather 
than to provide an update after the event.  
 
As it had been an unusual couple of years, the Whistle Blowing policy had 
been used quite often particularly when the Covid grants were in place.  
Members of the public had contacted the Council under this particular 
Policy, but it had been found that these concerns mainly referred to the 
furlough scheme and had been signposted to HMRC.  
 
There had been one fraudulent case reported to the Council in respect of 
the Covid grant scheme and this had been passed onto the Anglia 
Revenues & Benefits Partnership (ARP) to investigate but had since been 
deemed not to be fraudulent, and was also raised to the External Auditors 
as part of the end of year accounts. 
 
The Money Laundering Policy (MLP) was mainly used by ARP in 
particular the Enforcement Agents, if they happened to be offered large 
sums of cash to pay off any debt, and this would be reported through this 
Policy accordingly.  
 
Other areas that could have an impact on the MLP were explained.  
 
The policies themselves were not particularly modern and should really 
be available online and therefore if approved, the Finance Team would 
work with the Digital Team to set up an on-line form for the public to use 
to improve the service.  

 

13



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

11 

 Action By 

 
Mr Fowler drew attention to page 122 of the agenda pack in respect of the 
Council’s complaints procedure and felt that it would be good idea to have 
a link, under the complaints procedure to the Whistle Blowing Policy, on 
the Council’s website to identify any distinction between the Policies.  
 
Mr Fowler then drew attention to page 123 of the agenda pack where it 
stated that nay concerns relating to the Chief Officers listed should be 
reported to Ernst & Young, but he had noticed that Ernst & Young’s 
contact details had not been included.  
 
The Assistant Director of Finance & S151 Officer agreed that a link could 
certainly be included, and the said contact details would be added. 
 
Referring to page 115 of the agenda pack under implementation, the 
Chairman asked what evidence this Committee had that Service 
Managers were making sure that all staff were familiar with the content of 
these Policies. 
 
Members were informed that this would form part of Services Managers 
training. These Policies, if approved, would also be added to the Intranet, 
and for clarity, such evidence would be reported to a future meeting.  
 
Further questions were asked including a concern about the emphasis on 
financial fraud and possible missing information.   
 
Councillor Birt drew attention to page 129 of the agenda pack under the 
first bullet point under the heading ‘Guidance for Employees’ and felt the 
emphasis was more on fraud and corruption but other extremely 
significant offences, such as child abuse, could be downplayed or 
overlooked. He felt that the terminology should be broadened. 
 
Members were informed that there was a safeguarding policy in place, 
and it needed to be made clear to people that they were reporting such 
offences in the right area.  There was ‘grey line’ between what was 
classed as a complaint and what was classed as whistle blowing but 
internally the matter would be directed to the correct place.  
 
On page 133, Appendix 4 of the agenda pack, under the heading ‘How 
the Council would Respond’, the Chairman asked if it was the intention 
that the General Purposes Committee would now have primary 
responsibility for overseeing investigations, and if so, did the Policy reflect 
that.   
 
It was confirmed that the Governance & Audit Committee had full 
responsibility for all these areas. However, if Members felt that this should 
be considered, this matter would be taken up with Democratic Services. 
 
The Chairman suggested some wording to be considered to demonstrate 
what the pathway was. 
 
Subject to all the aforementioned comments/suggestions, it was   
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1) the Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy be approved; 

14



Governance and Audit Committee 
10 February 2022 

 
 

12 

 Action By 

2) the Whistleblowing Policy be approved; and 
3) the Money Laundering Policy be approved. 

 
15/22 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 15)   
  
 Revised copies of the Work Programme had been circulated prior to the 

meeting. 
 
The following items were added to the Work Programme for the June 
meeting:  
 

 Internal Audit Progress Report 

 Internal Audit Follow up Report; and 

 Internal Audit Annual Audit Opinion 2021/22 
 

 

16/22 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 16)   
  
 The arrangements for the next meeting on Thursday, 23 June 2022 at 

10am were noted. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 11.05 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

15



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Sarah Barsby - Assistant Director, People and Governance 
 
To: Governance and Audit Commission- Thursday 23rd June 2022 
 
Author: Ryan Pack - Innovation and Change Business Partner  
 
Subject:  Strategic Risk- Q1 22/23 
 
Purpose: To inform the Committee on the status of the Councils’ strategic risks 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
1) That the contents of the report are noted 

 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  This report presents the current status of the Council’s strategic risks as of June 2022. 

The committee last reviewed the council’s strategic risks at their meeting in February 
2022.  

 
1.2 Strategic risks are captured on the Corporate Dashboard which is available to the Central 

Management Team (CMT) and reviewed by CMT and GOLD as required.  
 

1.3 Strategic risks have been reviewed and updated with responsible members of the Central 
Management Team. These cover the over-arching risks that may affect the strategic 
direction of the council, rather than risks linked to business continuity. 

 
1.4 In their nature, strategic risks have been identified as having the potential to cause 

organisation-wide impact and will often cover a number of key services and departments. 
 
1.5 The Council’s risk scoring mechanism is based on a 5x5 matrix and is comparable with 

best practice in other similar organisations. The risk matrix provides a comprehensive 
assessment and understanding of risk likelihood and impact. The matrix results in a 
numerical score that combines the impact of the risk occurring with the likelihood of it 
happening. 

 
1.6 Risks fall into High, Medium or Low categories depending on their rating. 
  
  

High  

Medium  

Low  

 
1.7 Risks are tracked below in a heat map to represent the number of strategic risks currently 

reported at each score. 
 
1.8 There are 11 risks included within the update report 
  
 The risks are made up of the following 
 

 
  

16

Agenda Item 7



Level of identified risk February 2022  

High 4 4 

Medium 7 6 

Low 2 1 

 
 

1.9 Since this report was last seen by the committee several risks have been removed or 
downgraded. These risks had previously been included within the register as: 

 Impact of national HGV driver shortage on local critical 
services (waste collection) 

 Impact of disease, including pandemic, on ability to deliver 
critical Council services 

 Impact of pandemic or other civil emergency on local 
businesses, communities and local and national infrastructure 
 

1.10 As discussed at the meeting of Governance and Audit in February, the risk related to HGV 
shortages has now been removed due to shortages no longer being a strategic issue for 
the council. This risk is now dealt with at an operational level under the councils operational 
staffing shortage risk.  

 
 

1.11 Similarly, both risks related to the pandemic now fall under the councils operational risk 
through both it’s staffing risk and it’s operational risk related to emergency planning and 
contingency. In the event that a pandemic event remerged, then the council may seek to 
reinstate these risks. 

 
1.12 The highest risks to the council remain the national waste consultation, GDPR and 

emerging government policy. A further high risk has also been added to this report in 
relation to nutrient neutrality.  

 
1.13 Whilst nutrient neutrality has a direct impact on the local plan, the decision has been made 

to split out this risk and not raise the risk to the local plan. This is due to the timescales in 
which the council has to deliver the local plan vs the timescales it believes there will be a 
risk around nutrient neutrality. In the event that these timescales are not hit, then the 
council would seek to raise it’s local plan risk. 

 
1.14 Since this report was last seen by Governance and Audit, the investigation into the cyber 

incident has been concluded. A detailed note has been added to this risk setting out why it 
has also subsequently returned to it’s pre-incident risk level. 
 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1  Note the contents of the report and the recommendation and do nothing. 
 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1  Not applicable. 
 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 

17



4.1  That the Committee is made aware of the Council’s strategic risks and understands that 
they are being managed and mitigated effectively.  

 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  
5.1.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no carbon footprint or environmental 

implications. 
 
5.2  Constitution & Legal 
5.2.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct constitutional or legal implications. 
  
5.3 Contracts 
5.3.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct contract implications. 
 
5.4  Corporate Priorities 
5.4.1 This report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the    Councils 

corporate priorities. 
 
5.5 Crime and Disorder  
5.5.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct crime and disorder implications. 
 
5.6  Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 
5.6.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct equality or human rights implications.  
 
5.7  Financial  
5.7.1 This report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the Council's budgets and 

financial management. 
 
5.8 Health & Wellbeing 
5.8.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no health or wellbeing implications. 
 
5.9  Reputation  
5.9.1 Risks which come to fruition have some reputational consequences. It is the purpose of the 

risk management strategy to manage potential outcomes by means of control measures.  
 
5.10 Risk Management  
5.10.1 This report provides details on the Council's strategic risks. 
 
5.11 Safeguarding 
5.11.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct safeguarding implications as a result 

of this report. 
 
5.12  Staffing 
5.12.1 This report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the Council's   
……… corporate priorities.   
  
5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
5.13.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this report.  
 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 

18



6.1 Non applicable  
 
7.0 ACRONYMS 
 
7.1  CMT: Central Management team 
7.2 HGV: Heavy Goods Vehicle 
7.3 GDPR: General Data Protection Regulations 

Background papers:- None  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner 
Telephone Number:  
Email: ryan.pack@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Discretionary Service  
 
Appendices attached to this report: (list appendices below or delete) 
Appendix A  Breckland District Council Strategic Risk Register 
Appendix B Breckland District Council Strategic Risk Matrix 
  
  
 

19



Risk Increased demand for Housing services  

Description If the council is unable to fulfil its statutory duties in relation to homelessness, then it may find itself in breach of legislation such as the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

 

 
Likelihood- 3 
Impact- 4 

Risk Owner Gill Duffy Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

12 (3x4) 
25 (5x5) 
8 (2x4) 
12 (3x4) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

19/05/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/23 
19/03/18 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 HRA 

 Consequences of Covid leading to 
increased homelessness/less 
available Housing stock 

 The economic situation within the 
district  

 Impact of COVID on residents within 
district leading to more complex 
cases (increase in domestic abuse 
cases, drug and alcohol support 
cases, mental health problems, debt) 

 A serious shortfall in available and 
affordable temporary housing options. 

 A Shortfall in available longer-term 
housing 

 Impact on the ability of staff to deal with 
current demand levels 

Latest Note-  
There has been no increase or decrease in relation to this risk so far in Q1. 
 
One of the longer-term impacts of COVID is a shortage of rented accommodation in both the private and social sectors and this is expected to 
continue.  This means that there is a still high demand for temporary accommodation and this has associated costs.  Elm House opening has 
reduced these costs but there is still the need to find other temporary accommodation solutions that are more cost-effective.  Staffing levels are 
low due to difficulties in recruitment and retention. The training programme is almost complete as it has been impacted by some of these shortages 
e.g. trained members of staff leaving and new staff needing to be trained. 
 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

Funding of three citizen advice bureaus across the district  Proactive Good  Recruitment of outstanding posts Gill Duffy Ongoing  

Undergoing 6-month training programme with new and existing staff Proactive Satisfactory  Rough Sleepers accommodation 
project bid 

Gill Duffy Ongoing 

Recruited to all but two posts within the team Proactive Good  Training programme Gill Duffy Early 2022 

Daisy programme funding Proactive Good  

Fit for purpose IT system  Proactive Good  

Weekly multi-agency early intervention meetings Proactive Good  

Social prescribers to assist on Housing issues within the district Proactive Good  

Government grant funding for homeless prevention and relief activity Proactive Good  

 

 

20



Risk Nutrient Neutrality 

Description If the council is unable to process planning applications due to the introduction of nutrient neutrality, then there will be an impact on housing and planning 
delivery within the district.  

 
 

 
 
Likelihood- 5 
Impact- 3 
 

Risk Owner Simon 
Wood 

Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

15 (5x3) 
15 (5x3) 
2 (2x1) 
- 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

24/05/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/23 
16/04/22 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 Introduction of guidance from Natural England on 16th 
March 2022 

 Introduction of guidance from 
Natural England on 16th 
March 2022 

 Lack of mitigation available at 
the time of announcement  

 Impact on delivery of the Local 
plan 

 Impact on Housing delivery 

 Impact on Planning fees 

 Moratorium on housing planning 
decisions in the affected area 

Latest Note-  
 
Norfolk districts have appointed consultants to assess the impact of the guidance and provide proposals for a mitigation strategy.  It is expected that this will 
remain a risk in some form for the next 12/24 months.  
 
Please note that the working groups are only currently marked as satisfactory due to having not yet met- once these have been established this control 
adequacy will likely be upgraded to good.  

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

Government grant (£200k) for consultants (Countywide) Reactive Good  To feed into all relevant working 
groups to ensure that mitigations 
are identified and implemented 
where possible.  

Simon Wood 24/06/22 

Districts working group (countywide) Reactive Satisfactory      

Political working group (Countywide) Reactive Satisfactory      

Internal group for BDC Reactive Satisfactory   

 

 

 

 

 

21



Risk Waste consultation 

Description If the government is to pursue certain options within its current waste consultation, then the council’s current service delivery of waste services will be 
required to change at a cost to the organisation as well as its waste partners within the district.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Likelihood- 5 
Impact- 5 
 
 
 
 

Risk Owner Riana 
Rudland 

Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

25 (5x5) 
25 (5x5) 
15 (3x5) 
25 (5x5) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

11/05/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/23 
03/08/21 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

Launch of a government consultation into waste management   Gov have indicated food waste from 
2023/4. 

 Government decision on other specific 
areas (see the latest note) 

 Financial/budget impact – (£1.5-
3.5m) 

 Loss of recycling credits 

 Service delivery impact 

 Viability to MRF (Materials Recycling 
Facility) 

 Resident impact- behaviour changes 

 Political impact 

Latest Note-  
The council continues to work with partners concerning the potential outcomes and impacts of the government’s waste consultation. The main risk areas 
within this consultation are- 

 Deposit retention scheme 

 Consistency of collections 

 Introduction of food waste service 

 Introduction of non-chargeable garden waste service 
 

The council continues to monitor for further clarity and announcements from central government with regards to the outcomes of the ongoing waste 
consultation. Overall there continues to be limited movement on this risk with no widescale announcements of burdens funding or timescales. The council is 
aware through these announcements however that certain elements are likely to not be fully announced e.g. requirements, burdens funding and if funding 
will be received at a district or county level until late 2023. 
 The local government association has however recently begun recruitment for project-specific roles on behalf of local partners in relation to the waste 
consultation. It is likely therefore that once these roles are recruited the council will be engaged by the LGA. This should lead to a slight reduction in the risk 
impact as the council through national preparation for the changes ahead of further announcements. 

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

To engage with partners e.g. contractor organisations if the 
consultation agrees to certain elements 

Proactive Good  To retain a monitoring brief of 
the situation  

Riana Rudland Ongoing 

Potential burdens funding Reactive Satisfactory   To respond to the consultation Riana Rudland Ongoing 

Working with other district councils within the district on specific 
issues from the consultation.  

Proactive Good  

Working with disposal authority and disposal providers Proactive Good  

22



Risk Leisure reopening 

Description If visitor levels at the council’s leisure facilities do not recover to pre-COVID levels/usage, then the council will need to consider its position regarding their 
continued support and make-up of operations.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Likelihood- 3 
Impact- 3 
 
 

Risk Owner Riana 
Rudland 

Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

9 (3x3) 
16 (4x4) 
6 (3x2) 
9 (3x3) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

11/05/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/23 
03/08/21 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 COVID 19 

 Other leisure offerings within district 

 Future COVID disruption  Financial impact (on council, 
contractor, and potential grant 
income) 

 Contractual impact 

 Community impact 

Latest Note-  
This risk remains unchanged. The leisure industry continues to recover from COVID-19 and the council’s leisure offering continues to receive support from 
both the council and central government through grant funding. All services have reopened and recovery is better than previously projected levels. As seen 
in the Q4 performance report, levels continue to improve in line with pre-COVID participation. 
 
Whilst this is good news, it should be noted that service levels remain below pre covid rates and full recovery will be a lengthy process. Currently, resident 
behaviours have changed as a result of COVID meaning that much of the indoor leisure offering is still being impacted. 
 
Monthly monitoring continues for these areas and the council continues to work with partners and contractors to ensure that costs are mitigated and 
income is maximised. 

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

September/October review of the current state of the nation Proactive Good  Quarterly review of data and trends Riana Rudland Ongoing 

Engagement with leisure operator Proactive Good  Centre cost reduction programme Riana Rudland Ongoing 

Support with marketing  Proactive Good  The direct agreement currently paused to 
mitigate costs 

Riana Rudland Ongoing 
(monthly) 

Changes to current operation to meet Covid controls Proactive Good  

Review of fees and charges Proactive Good  

Potential for further grant funding Proactive Good  

National lobbying by leisure industry  Proactive Good  

Open dialogue with partners and contractors Proactive Good  

 

 

23



Risk Sustainability strategy  

Description If the council does not meet the targets set out in its sustainability strategy, then it will not be able to achieve its target of net-zero by 2035. 

 
 
 
 

 
Likelihood- 3 
Impact- 3 
 
 

Risk Owner Greg 
Pearson 

Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

9 (3x3) 
25 (5x5) 
4 (2x2) 
9 (3x3) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

07/04/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/23 
09/08/21 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 Climate emergency declaration in September 2019 

 Government policy drivers (the UK to be net-zero by 
2050) 

 Growing public focus and expectations for organisations 
such as councils to take proactive climate actions 

 Technology 

 Funding 

 Public interest 

 Policy drivers (local/national) 

 Specific local drivers e.g. air 
quality/flooding 

 Environmental impact 

 Financial impact 

 Political impact 

 Reputational impact 

Latest Note-  
The council has an established programme of work in place to support the delivery of its sustainability strategy and remains on track to meet its work 
programme. 

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

Appointed a climate change officer  Proactive Good  The council continues to deliver its 
programme of activities  

Greg Pearson Ongoing 

Allocated additional one-off funding from reserves to pump prime 
action 

Proactive Good  

Integrated strategy into the council’s corporate plan Proactive Good  

Linking to other key strategies e.g. local plan and economic 
strategies  

Proactive Good  

 

 

 

 

 

 

24



Risk Failure to deliver the local plan and its delivery plan 

Description If the council fails to deliver the Local Plan within the terms of the local development scheme - then there is a risk to the council’s reputation as well as 
financial impacts. 

 
 
 

 
 
Likelihood- 2 
Impact- 3 

Risk Owner   Simon 
Wood 

Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

6 (2x3) 
12 (3x4) 
3 (1x3) 
6 (2x3) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

19/05/22 
01/07/22 
01/12/23 
04/01/16 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 Agreeing a new local plan (INF03 policy) 

 Guidance in NPPF to review plan every 5 years 

 Planning reforms 

 Financial resources 

 Reputational impact 

 Financial impact 

Latest Note- 
 
 Work around the local plan continues in line with the local development scheme. A related risk around nutrient neutrality has also been added to the 
strategic risk register. Whilst this falls under the local plan risk, it has been separated due to the fact that the local plan is a long term piece of work whereas 
the risk posed by nutrient neutrality are regarded as short to medium-term risks.  

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

Local plan review Proactive Satisfactory  Publication Draft Simon 
Wood 

Q2 2022 

Other options to deliver Housing within the district through the 
development management process 

Reactive Good  Policy review completed  Simon 
Wood 

November 2022 
(target) 

 National planning policy framework review 
(advisory) 

Simon 
Wood 

2024 review 

 Prepare and consult on Statement of 
Community Involvement (Cabinet approval) 

Simon 
Wood 

Q4 21/22 

 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report and 
preparation (including consultation) (Prepared 
externally) 

Simon 
Wood 

Ongoing 

 Collation of evidence base Simon 
Wood 

Q1 2024 

 Prepare Call for Sites (Cabinet) Simon 
Wood 

Q4 21/22 

 Consult on Call for Sites and processing of 
responses 

Simon 
Wood 

Q3 22/23 

25



Risk Critical breach of ICT security risk 

Description If the council does not ensure that it's ICT security and associated plans and policies are up to date and robust then it places itself at increased risk of 
breaches including but not limited to ransomware and data exfiltration (which are becoming more common, with the public sector as with all other 
government systems and private companies). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Likelihood- 4 
Impact- 3 
 
 

Risk Owner  Ben Meen Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

12 (4x3) 
25 (5x5) 
5 (1x5) 
16 (4x4) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

27/01/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/22 
07/01/20 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 The amount of personal data held by the council 

 An increase in public sector cyber attacks 

 Increasingly sophisticated 
attacks 

 Increase in the volume of 
attacks 

 Staff awareness of being able 
to spot signs of a cyber attack 

 Loss of private and personal data 

 Loss of IT capabilities for 
sections of or the whole council 

 Infrastructure damage to IT 
hardware 

 Financial impact 

 Reputational impact 

 Legal implications 

Latest Note-  
During Q3, the council was impacted by a cyber incident. The investigation by a third party into this incident has continued into Q4 and has subsequently 
been concluded. Based on the results of this investigation, the council wrote to individuals who may have been impacted by this incident with the offer of 
support from the council. A very limited number of responses were received as a result of this activity.  
 
 As a result of the conclusion of this investigation, the risk level has been lowered. This brings it in line with the risk level that the council was at pre cyber 
incident. The risk likelihood remains at a similar level whilst cyber security training is completed and assessments are undertaken to ascertain the 
organisation's risk of future attacks to see whether there has been an improvement in this regard. 
 
BDC also continues to work closely with the other local authorities and central Government bodies to enhance our ability to detect and protect against cyber-
attacks through the sharing of intelligence and best practice. 

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

Through a suite of protection measures such as web filtering and 
antivirus software, there is a good level of protection from viruses. 
Disaster recovery is also well maintained. 

Proactive Good  Monitor IOC 
announcements for 
changes to regulations in 
light of increased home 
working  
Kirsty 

Kirsty Porter Ongoing 

On-access scanning of all files processed giving real-time 
protection. 

Proactive Good     

Daily full scans of all files held at rest on drives. Proactive Good  

26



Advisory updates from the Government Cyber Security forum giving 
detailed information on any risks seen across the Government 
estate (both central and local). 

Proactive Good  

A corporate firewall provides additional protection on all traffic 
entering or leaving  
Breckland Council network giving different AV engine scanning. 

Proactive Good  

External scanning of all emails entering the council network which 
uses 4 different AV engines to provide additional granular AV 
scanning. 

Proactive Good  

Digital off-site backups we still utilise tapes that are taken off-site 
and stored.  These tapes are rotated on a weekly and monthly basis 
so there is a history of backups that can be used in the event of 
data recovery being required if the digital copies are corrupt. 

Proactive Good  

Centrally managed antivirus software with daily updates to protect 
against virus and malware together with proactive reporting 

Proactive Good  

Quarterly meetings of the statutory information group monitor the 
situation and identify areas of remediation, which continue to be 
addressed in relation to GDPR 

Proactive Good  

GDPR education and training continues to be rolled out for staff to 
help them identify GDPR related cyber attacks 

Proactive Good  

Up to data information asset registers to help identify where 
sensitive and personal data is held 

Proactive Good  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

27



Risk Medium-term financial plan not delivered  

Description If the council's medium-term financial plan and efficiency plan is not delivered, then it may not be able to produce a balanced budget. 

 
 
 

 
Likelihood- 3 
Impact- 3 
 

Risk Owner Alison 
Chubbock 

Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

9 (3x3) 
25 (5x5) 
4 (2x2) 
9 (3x3) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

21/04/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/23 
08/09/15 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 Government funding/settlement  

 Wider economy  

 Business rates retention  

 Emerging policy  

 Government 
funding/settlement  

 Wider economy  

 Business rates retention 

  Emerging policy 

 Financial implications 

 Noncritical service delivery reduces or 
ceases  

Latest Note-  
The budget approved in February 2022 delivers a balanced budget for 2022-23, with a budget gap in future years.  the value of the budget gap is dependent on 
the timing of the changes to local government funding, the timing and impact of these changes remains unknown at this time, but it seems unlikely it will be 
any earlier than 2023-24 / 2024-25. 
 
The budget includes a detailed plan to close this gap alongside a larger programme 'Evolve' to deliver longer-term plans, work has already begun on these 
projects with some already delivered and these will be reported in the quarterly financial reports to Cabinet. A further year of New Homes Bonus funding has 
been included in the 2022-23 Settlement, this will enable the Council to continue to invest in our priorities. The budgets remain subject to a large amount of 
assumptions currently due to the uncertainty around future funding of Local Government alongside the ongoing impact on the economy and our residents 
from the covid pandemic. 
 

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

Reliance on New Homes Bonus has been removed from the 
budget. 

Proactive Good  Regular financial monitoring to allow for plan 
delivery 

Alison Chubbock Ongoing 

'Buffer fund' to cushion impacts of major property tenants 
moving out/ceasing trading 

Proactive Good  Lobbying government and responding to 
consultations around settlement 

Alison Chubbock Ongoing (as of 
when) 

Funding settlement preparation (annual budget) Proactive Good  

Financial provision has been made to cover the risk of current 
appeals, collection rates and growth. (BR) 

Reactive Good  

Continue to keep up to date with DLUHC consultations and 
update MTFP accordingly. 

Proactive Good  

Regular financial monitoring to allow for plan delivery Proactive Good  

28



Active asset management (i.e. acquisitions/disposals) to create 
a balanced portfolio in terms of unit size and use leasehold 
rental charges at/or above market rental valuation 

Proactive Good  

Monitoring of tenants business performance in larger units Proactive Good  

Maintain policy on leasehold security deposits in relation to 
commercial properties. 

Proactive Good  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29



Risk Emerging government policy 

Description If the council does not monitor emerging government policy, then it may not fully understand the implications of certain policies on organisational service 
delivery models and budget position. This includes but is not limited to policy around local industrial strategies, Environment bill, Spending reviews, any white 
papers with regards to the expected government white paper on levelling up and recovery, which will also include local authority devolution (County deals). 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Likelihood- 4  
Impact- 4 
 

Risk Owner Greg Pearson Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

16 (4x4) 
25 (5x5) 
4 (2x2) 
16 (4x4) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

07/04/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/23 
19/07/19 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 New government policy  Environment bill reaches 
royal assent  

 Levelling up and recovery 
white paper 

 Specific policy impacts could 
impact multiple areas of the 
council. 

 Specific risks related to policy 
contain further 

 
 

Latest Note-  
The government Levelling Up white paper has been published which identifies Norfolk as a pilot site for county deal/devolution of power. Discussions are 
ongoing about the implications of this. The white paper also has significant implications for economic development across the country and these are currently 
being worked through. 
 
The impacts of the Environment Act on the council's waste service are unclear and we are awaiting further consultation from government regarding the  
implementation of new requirements around the service area. Consultations have been launched on Biodiversity Net Gain and a number of new 
environmental targets which the council is feeding into. 
 
The risk score, therefore, remains the same at 4x4. 

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

The council ensures that it retains a dedicated post to oversee 
policy changes and their impact on both the council and the 
region  

Proactive Good     

Senior management also ensures an awareness of government 
policy changes. 

Proactive Good     

 

 

 

30



Risk General Data Protection Regulation 

Description If the council does not ensure that data identified in the General Data Protection Regulations is held in an appropriate and secure manner, then it would be 
in breach of the act and would be liable for action from the Information Commissioners Office (ICO). 

 
 
 
 

 
Likelihood- 4  
Impact- 4 
 

Risk Owner Kirsty Porter Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

16 (4x4) 
20 (4x5) 
6 (2x3) 
12 (3x4) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

01/04/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/23 
01/11/21 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 Introduction of GDPR 

 Incorrect handling of personal data 

 Cyber security breaches (capture by cyber security policy 
and risk) 

 Lack of awareness around 
personal data handling 

 Financial implications 

 Legal implications 

 Reputational impact 

Latest Note- 
The GDPR risk has been reintroduced as a result of a specific strategic risks the council is facing.  
 
The council has been advised of a current risk related to the displaying of personal information online in relation to planning applications. The council has 
been advised as to what is appropriate to display online but currently displays more than necessary. Work is currently on track to ensure that the early 2022 
target date is met for this to be resolved. Please note that this does not relate to local plan comments. 
 
This risk will be unable to be decreased until the conclusion of work around the displaying of these comments and when the current programme of training 
for staff is completed. 

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

Quarterly meetings of the statutory information group monitor 
the situation and identify areas of remediation, which continue to 
be addressed. 

Proactive Good  Monitor IOC announcements for changes to 
regulations in light of increased home working  

Kirsty 
Porter 

Ongoing 

GDPR education and training continues to be rolled out Proactive Good  Stop displaying 3rd party comments on the 
Breckland website in relation to planning 
applications. 

Simon Wood Early 2022 

Recall messages in the event a breach occurs e.g. email recalls, 
collecting of letters, website removal of sensitive information. 

Reactive Good  

Dedicated legal resource for internal advice on data regulations Proactive Good  

Up to data information asset registers Proactive Good  

Reporting mechanism for reporting breaches to the ICO  Reactive Good  

Privacy notices Proactive Good  

 

 

31



Risk Contract management 

Description If a contract is not managed effectively then the council may fail to deliver a strategic outcome.    

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Likelihood- 2 
Impact- 2 
 

Risk Owner Riana Rudland   Current score 
Raw score 
Target Score 
Previous Score 

4 (2x2) 
16 (4x4) 
4 (2x2) 
4 (2x2) 

Last reviewed 
Next review 
Target Date 
Origin Date 

01/04/22 
01/07/22 
01/04/23 
14/12/21 

Triggers Likelihood factors (vulnerability) Potential consequences 

 Lack of effective contract management 
 

 Suppliers are unlikely to know 
the council’s priorities.   

 Corporate Plan strategic 
outcomes are not delivered   

Latest Note-  
 
The council’s most significant contracts are for waste and recycling collection, street cleansing and grounds maintenance, leisure centres and planning 
services. The delivery of these contracts contributes significantly to the delivery of the councils’ strategic objectives. As the contracts and all long-term 
contracts, good contract management is essential to ensure the contracts change and adapt to the council’s changing needs and latest strategic objectives.   
 
The following strategic outcomes and actions are directly linked to our contracts and will only be delivered if there is effective contract management.   
 
Strategic Outcome SP103 - To enhance the health and wellbeing of Breckland’s residents by providing excellent leisure facilities and activities.- 
The current facilities at Thetford Leisure Centre and Dereham Leisure Centre are provided through a contract.  Enhancing leisure will include updating 
facilities at Attleborough and Swaffham and finding a contractor to run them when the current contracts run out.  Contracts will need to be effectively 
managed to deliver this Strategic Action. 
 
Strategic Outcome SP301 - To lead by example and start to deliver our sustainability strategy, reducing our carbon footprint and enabling residents to take 
actions for themselves.- 
Tree planting would be carried out by a new contractor so again, the contract will need to be effectively managed to deliver this Strategic Action. 
 
Strategic Outcome SP301 - To lead by example and start to deliver our sustainability strategy, reducing our carbon footprint and enabling residents to take 
actions for themselves.- 
The planning service is currently delivered through a contract so any shaping of the planning service will require effective contract management to ensure 
that the Strategic Action is delivered.   
 
Strategic Outcome SP303 - To build on the success of our tripartite waste and recycling contract - to not only deliver strong performance and efficiency but 
also use it as a mechanism to educate our residents about reducing waste.- 
The waste service is currently delivered through a contract so again, effective contract management will be required to ensure that the Strategic Action is 
delivered.   
 

32



Strategic Outcome SP303 - To build on the success of our tripartite waste and recycling contract - to not only deliver strong performance and efficiency but 
also use it as a mechanism to educate our residents about reducing waste.- 
The trade waste collection service is currently delivered through a contract so again, effective contract management will be required to ensure that the 
Strategic Action is delivered.   
 
Strategic Outcome SP403 - Continue to innovatively use our resources to produce a balanced budget to enable the delivery of our (statutory and additional) 
services.- 
As a significant proportion of our spending is through our major contractors, then those contracts need to be effectively managed to ensure that the Strategic 
Action is delivered.   
 
The council is currently seeking to recruit a contracts and procurement manager. Whilst this does not change the risk in the short term, in the event that the 
council were unable to recruit a individual for the role, then the risk may be raised. 
 
The control in place are seen to be a satisfactory way to manage the risk and therefore no additional actions required’ (or something like that) just so it doesn’t 
look like the box hasn’t been missed in error 

 

 

Controls Type Adequacy  Action Plan Responsibility Target Date 

A contract manager is identified for each of the 
contracts that contribute to the delivery of the council’s 
strategic actions.  

Proactive Good     

Any changes to the contract that are required to deliver 
the council’s strategic objectives are managed in 
accordance with the change procedure in the contract. 

Proactive Good     

Any changes to the contract that are required to deliver 
the council’s strategic objectives are documented in 
accordance with the change procedure in the contract. 

Proactive Good     

Regular contract management meetings are held with 
the supplier to manage performance and discuss any 
actions required and any potential changes to the 
contract.  

Proactive Good     

 

33



Appendix B- Breckland Council Risk Matrix (taken from Breckland Council risk policy) 

 

34



 

35



Key risk definitions-  

Title of field  Explanation  

Title  Title of risk.  

Description  Description of the risk before mitigation.  

Raw risk score  This is the original risk score (Impact x Likelihood) with no mitigations/controls. 

Current Risk Score  This is the risk score at the present time with the mitigations/controls included. 

Target risk score This is the maximum risk score the organisation finds acceptable, in keeping with its appetite. 

Controls/Mitigation  This is the mitigating actions and controls put in place to reduce the risk. This may be broken down further in some cases into 

proactive and reactive mitigations and which controls are in place/ need to be added. 

Impact  This is the current risk impact score (see Appendix 2). 

Likelihood  This is the current risk Likelihood score (see Appendix 2). 

Trend (last quarter)  This highlights the direction of travel compared to the previous quarter. 

Latest Note  This provides details on latest actions taken. 

Latest Update Date  This is the date the latest update was provided. 

Target Impact  This is the target impact score that the Council has deemed to be acceptable for this risk (see Appendix 2). 

Target Likelihood  This is the target likelihood score that the Council has deemed to be acceptable for this risk (see Appendix 2). 

Target actions These are the actions that need to be completed in order for the council to mitigate the risk. 

Target date The date at which the target should be reached. This should be calculated based on the target actions. 

Origin date The date the risk was added to the council’s strategic risk register (either as a new risk or as an operational risk which has 

become strategic).  

 

 

 

 

36



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Head of Internal Audit  
 
To:    Governance and Audit Committee, 23 June 2022 
 
Author:  Faye Haywood, Head of Internal Audit 
 
Subject: Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity up to 13 June 2022 in relation to the 

completion of the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22.  
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 

1) That members review the final progress report for the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22  
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee receive updates on progress made against the 

annual internal audit plan. This report forms part of the overall reporting requirements to 
assist the Council in discharging its responsibilities in relation to the internal audit activity.  

 
1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Chief Audit Executive to report to the 

Committee the performance of internal audit relative to its agreed plan, including any 
significant risk exposures and control issues. The frequency of reporting at Breckland is 
twice yearly. To comply with the above the report identifies:   

o Any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan; 
o Progress made in delivering the agreed audits for the year;  
o Any significant outcomes arising from audits; and 
o Performance Measure outcomes to date. 

 
2.0 CURRENT PROGRESS 
 
2.1 The final position in relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 is 

shown within the report. 
 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 The Governance and Audit Committee are requested to receive and note the Progress 

Report on Internal Audit Activity.  In doing so, the Committee is ensuring that the Internal 
Audit Service remains compliant with professional auditing standards and are fulfilling their 
terms of reference. 
 

4.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Corporate Priorities 
 
4.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas reviewed and ensuring that they are 

working towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities. 
 
4.2 Financial  
 
4.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan has been delivered within the approved budget for 2021/22. 
 

37

Agenda Item 8



4.3 Risk Management  
 
4.3.1 Internal Audit planning starts with the Council’s key risks, which then directs the audit plan 

for the financial year. Internal Audit reports then identify risks and control weaknesses 
within the Council which are highlighted in this report, with appropriate management action 
being agreed to mitigate these risks within agreed timeframes. 

 

Background papers: - None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post: Faye Haywood Head of Internal Audit for Breckland DC 
Telephone Number: 01508 533873 
Email: faye.haywood@southnorfolkandbroadland.gov.uk 
 
Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting Faye Haywood, Head of Internal Audit.  
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Exempt Decision: No 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity 
 

 

38



Page 1 of 29 

 

Eastern Internal Audit Services 

 

 
Breckland District Council 

 

Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity 

Period Covered: 1 February 2022 to 13 June 2022 

Responsible Officer: Faye Haywood – Head of Internal Audit for Breckland District Council 

 

CONTENTS 

1. INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................. 2 

2. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE APPROVED INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN ................... 2 

3.  PROGRESS MADE IN DELIVERING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK ............................. 2 

5. PERFORMANCE MEASURES ....................................................................................... 5 

APPENDIX 1 – PROGRESS IN COMPLETING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK .................. 6 

APPENDIX 2 – AUDIT REPORT EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES ............................................. 8 

 

  

39



Page 2 of 29 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This report is issued to assist the Authority in discharging its responsibilities in relation to the 
internal audit activity.  

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards also require the Chief Audit Executive to report to 
the Audit Committee on the performance of internal audit relative to its plan, including any 
significant risk exposures and control issues. The frequency of reporting and the specific 
content are for the Authority to determine. 

1.3 To comply with the above this report includes:  

 Any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan; 

 Progress made in delivering the agreed audits for the year; 

 Any significant outcomes arising from those audits; and 

 Performance Indicator outcomes to date. 

2. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE APPROVED INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 

2.1 At the meeting on 24 June 2021, the Annual Internal Audit Plan for the year was approved 
identifying the specific audits to be delivered. Since then, one change has been made to the 
plan. The Office 365 Email and Calendar Management audit is schedule to be carried out in 
quarter two of 2022/23. This allowed the team to prioritise the finalisation of audits that 
represented a higher risk to the Council.  

3.  PROGRESS MADE IN DELIVERING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK 

3.1 The final position in relation to the completion of the 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan is shown in 
Appendix 1. The revised plan is now complete.  

4.  THE OUTCOMES ARISING FROM OUR WORK 

4.1 On completion of each individual audit an assurance level is awarded using the following 
definitions: 

 Substantial Assurance: Based upon the issues identified there is a robust series of suitably 
designed internal controls in place upon which the organisation relies to manage the risks to 
the continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process, and which at the 
time of our review were being consistently applied. 

 Reasonable Assurance: Based upon the issues identified there is a series of internal controls 
in place, however these could be strengthened to facilitate the organisation’s management of 
risks to the continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process. 
Improvements are required to enhance the controls to mitigate these risks. 

 Limited Assurance: Based upon the issues identified the controls in place are insufficient to 
ensure that the organisation can rely upon them to manage the risks to the continuous and 
effective achievement of the objectives of the process. Significant improvements are required 
to improve the adequacy and effectiveness of the controls to mitigate these risks. 

 No Assurance: Based upon the issues identified there is a fundamental breakdown or 
absence of core internal controls such that the organisation cannot rely upon them to manage 
risk to the continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process. Immediate 
action is required to improve the controls required to mitigate these risks. 

40



Page 3 of 29 

 

4.2 Recommendations made on completion of audit work are prioritised using the following 
definitions: 

 Urgent (priority one): Fundamental control issue on which action to implement should be 
taken within 1 month. 

 Important (priority two): Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 
3 months. 

 Needs attention (priority three): Control issue on which action to implement should be taken 
within 6 months. 

4.3 In addition, on completion of audit work “Operational Effectiveness Matters” are proposed, 
these set out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for 
service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance 
the delivery of value for money services. These are for management to consider and are not 
part of the follow up process. 

4.4 During the period covered by the report, six assurance reports have been issued which are as 
follows; 

 Audit Assurance P1 
 

P2 P3 

Annual Governance Statement Reasonable 0 0 5 

Performance Management, Corporate 
Policy and Business Planning 

Reasonable 0 1 5 

Key Controls and Assurance Substantial 0 0 2 

Licensing Substantial 0 0 0 

Private Sector Housing DFGs Limited 0 9 3 

Environmental Services – Waste 
Management  

Reasonable  0 3 2 

Total    13 17 

The Executive Summary of these reports are attached at Appendix 2, full copies of these 
reports can be requested by Members. 

4.5 As can be seen in the table above, as a result of these audits 30 recommendations have been 
raised and agreed by management. 

4.6 In addition, two Operational Effectiveness Matters have been proposed to management for 
consideration – one in relation to Performance Management; and one in relation to Private 
Sector Housing DFGs. Details of these suggestions can be found within the Executive 
Summary in Appendix 2.   

4.7 Within this period, two position statements have been issued to management for 
consideration. Digital Strategy, and Legal Services.  

4.8 The Legal Services position statement has now been finalised, with three suggested 
improvement actions which are as follows:  

 Written procedures to be finalised on the administration of Legal Services once the 
current review has been completed. 

 To use the outcomes of the current review of Legal Services to better inform budget 
setting for the service. 

41



Page 4 of 29 

 

 To ensure that the Council maintains accurate records of all its legal casework 
whether through the procurement of a new case management system or other 
alternative arrangements.  

4.9 The Digital Strategy position statement has been issued in draft and is currently being 
considered by the service area. The main suggested action points from this work are as 
follows:  

 Governance structures for the Digital Strategy to be set up with a board/committee that has 
agreed terms to scrutinise business cases for digital projects, benefits, risks and a set of KPIs 
relating to strategy delivery. 
 

 Review, refresh and approve a new Digital Strategy and digital work programme.   

4.10 ARP Audits 

A total of 35 days has now been completed by the ARP auditors at West Suffolk, Fenland and 
East Suffolk covering four areas. The key findings from each of the four audit areas can be 
found below.   

 Council Tax and Housing Benefits 

This report was finalised with a reasonable assurance grading overall and a total of 14 
important recommendations were raised covering all partners. The key observations from the 
review are: 

 improvements are needed with the recovery of HBOP debt.  

 improvements to the credit and refund process are required to ensure that refunds are 
processed in a timely manner, actioned in the correct way and customers are clearly 
informed of how the credit will be dealt with.  

 work has continued to review user permissions for ARP systems and improvement is 
evident, however, the process needs to be more robust to prevent errors in the applying of 
new permissions.  

Recovery of Council Tax and Housing Benefit Overpayments  

This report is in draft awaiting management response. A reasonable assurance grading has 
been indicated overall covering all partners. A total of six recommendations have been raised.  

The key observations from the review are: 

 improvements are needed with the recovery of HBOP debt 

 improvements to the credit and refund process are required to ensure that refunds are 
processed in a timely manner, actioned in the correct way and customers are clearly 
informed of how the credit will be dealt with 

 work has continued to review user permissions for ARP systems and improvement is 
evident, however, the process needs to be more robust to prevent errors in the applying of 
new permissions. Due to the ARP reporting structure and test results being of a similar 
nature, the findings in respect of systems access are reported in the Billing and Benefits 
audit. 

National Non-Domestic Rates  

This report was finalised with a reasonable assurance grading overall and a total of six 
important recommendations were raised covering all partners.  

42



Page 5 of 29 

 

The key observations were:  

 VO reconciliations show inconsistencies were seen to contain errors or omissions.  

 Debt recovery management has not progressed significantly.  

 Awards of Small Business Rate Relief are currently being reviewed to reduce the risk of 
SBBR being applied to accounts where it is no longer appropriate: the project is in progress. 
 
ARP Enforcement  
 
The report was finalised with a substantial assurance grading overall with no urgent or 
important recommendations raised.  

5. PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

5.1 The Internal Audit Services contract includes a suite of key performance measures against 
which TIAA will be reviewed on a quarterly basis. There is a total of 11 indicators, over 4 areas. 

5.2 There are individual requirements for performance in relation to each measure; however, 
performance will be assessed on an overall basis as follows: 

 9-11 KPIs have met target = Green Status. 

 5-8 KPIs have met target = Amber Status. 

 4 or below have met target = Red Status. 

Where performance is amber or red a Performance Improvement Plan will be developed by 
TIAA and agreed with the Internal Audit Consortium Manager to ensure that appropriate action 
is taken.  

5.3 The Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 has been completed except for one review, Office 365 Email 
and Calendar Management which has been rescheduled for early 2022/23. Two reports 
remain in draft for Digital Strategy and the ARP Council Tax and Housing Benefit 
Overpayments.    Performance information relating to the delivery of the 2021/22 plan can be 
found within the Annual Internal Audit Opinion report. 

43



   

 

Page 6 of 29 

 

APPENDIX 1 – PROGRESS IN COMPLETING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

44



   

 

Page 7 of 29 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45



   

 

Page 8 of 29 

 

APPENDIX 2 – AUDIT REPORT EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES  

Assurance Review of BRK2201 Annual Governance Statement  

Executive Summary 

 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS 

 

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational 

Governance 0 0 1 0 

Local Code of Corporate 

Governance 

0 0 3 0 

Supporting Evidence 0 0 1 0 

Total 0 0 5 0 

 

SCOPE 

A deep dive review was undertaken to provide assurance that compliance with the Councils governance code can be evidenced and that Annual Governance 

Statement is compiled following the CIPFA and Solace Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. This review is to be carried out consortium wide to 

draw on similarities and relevant good practice interpretations. 

 

 

 

46



   

 

Page 9 of 29 

 

RATIONALE 

 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Reasonable Assurance' in managing the risks associated with the audit. The assurance 

opinion has been derived as a result of five 'needs attention' recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

 This area has not been subject to previous audit scrutiny, hence, no direction of travel is applicable.  

POSITIVE FINDINGS 

 

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently: 

 The Council completed its Annual Governance Statement and Statement of Accounts for 2021/22 in accordance with the revised deadline of 30 th September 

2021, with both published on the Council’s website having been considered by the Governance and Audit Committee. This is in accordance with the 

requirements of the Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government (MHC&LG). 

 The Annual Governance Statement for 2020/21 includes the Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion. This concludes that in relation to the Council’s 

framework of governance, risk management and controls for the year ended 31st March 2021 is considered to be reasonable assurance (positive). 

 The Annual Governance Statement for 2020/21 was been signed by Executive Director Strategy & Resources on 10/09/21 and the Leader of the Council on 

15/09/21 although for security purposes, only the unsigned version is available on the Council's website. 

 The Annual Governance Statement for 2020/21 refers to the impact of Covid-19 on the Council's business and the ending of the strategic alliance with South 

Holland DC; these being significant events occurring in-year. 

 The Annual Governance Statement for 2020/21 includes reference to the external auditor issuing an Audit Results Report to the Governance and Audit 

Committee covering the opinion on the financial statements and value for money.  

 

 

 

47



   

 

Page 10 of 29 

 

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED 

 

The audit has highlighted the following areas where five 'needs attention' recommendations have been made. 

Governance 

 A timetable for preparation and completion of the Annual Governance Statement to be produced and shared with key Council officers. Progress against which 

to be monitored by the Assistant Director Finance and EMT/CMT.  

Local Code of Corporate Governance  

 The Local Code of Corporate Governance be reviewed and updated where applicable. The updated version to replace the current version on the Council's 

website.  

 For the Local Code of Corporate Governance on the Council's website to contain hyperlinks to the key supporting governance documentation.  

 For the Local Code of Corporate Governance, that helps underpin the AGS, to refer to the newer version of the 'Corporate Plan' covering 2021-25 and the new 

'Breckland District Council Performance Management Framework'. 

Supporting Evidence 

 The Annual Governance Statement for 2022/23 and thereafter, to include more detail on how the Council ensures value for money and the policies and 

procedures for the prevention and detection of fraud including the role of internal and external audit the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership.  

Operational Effectiveness Matters 

There are no operational effectiveness matters for management to consider. 

Previous audit recommendations 

This area has not been subject to previous internal audit scrutiny.  

 

 

 

48



   

 

Page 11 of 29 

 

Other points noted 

The Assistant Director Finance presented a report to the Governance and Audit Committee at its meeting on 29/01/21, on CIPFA's new Financial Management Code 

which is designed to support good practice in financial management and to assist local authorities in demonstrating their financial sustainability. The Annual 

Governance 

Statement for 2020/21 refers to this new Code and that the Council had identified eight actions to improve financial management which it was intending to address 

during 2021/22.  

These were reported to the Governance and Audit Committee on 28/07/21. The Assistant Director Finance stated that only one action remained outstanding; to update 

the Asset Management Plan. A deadline of 31/12/21 had been set for completion of this action as per the plan presented to the Governance and Audit Committee. 

This has since been extended to 30th September 2022 to allow the Council time to acquire an external resource to complete this task and to report the action as 

completed for this year’s review of the Code.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

49



   

 

Page 12 of 29 

 

Assurance Review of BRK2202 Performance Management, Corporate Policy and Business 

Planning  

Executive Summary 

 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS 

 

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational 

Performance Management 0 1 2 1 

Use of Pentana 0 0 1 0 

Corporate Plan and 

Delivery Plan 

0 0 2 0 

Total 0 1 5 1 

 

SCOPE 

Due to the significance of the Covid-19 Pandemic, the Corporate Plan for the Council was reviewed taking lessons learnt, new ways of working and changes 

to local needs into account. Our review provides assurance that the new strategy reflects the environment, that reliable information has been used to inform 

the process, that risks to delivery have been considered and that performance measures have been revised that are achievable yet challenging.  

 

 

 

50



   

 

Page 13 of 29 

 

RATIONALE 

 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Reasonable Assurance' in managing the risks associated with the audit. The assurance 

opinion has been derived as a result of one ‘important’ and five 'needs attention' recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

 The audit has also raised one 'operational effectiveness matter', which sets out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for 

service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services. 

POSITIVE FINDINGS 

 

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently: 

 The Corporate Plan has been updated and approved to account for emerging key issues. This helps ensure the Council's resources are best aligned to service 

the needs of its communities. 

 Service Delivery Plans incorporate all key themes and outcomes established in the Corporate Plan. Each of these are supported by a series of strategic and 

delivery actions, and assigned to a responsible service area, helping ensure execution of the Corporate Plan. 

 Dashboards have been created in Pentana for each key theme in the Corporate Plan, linking the themes, outcomes, and actions to the underlying Key 

Performance Indicators (KPI). 

 Performance reports were confirmed to have been produced at required intervals, ensuring senior management and Members have up to date performance 

data to help guide decision making. 

 Performance reports to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission were confirmed to be sufficiently detailed and fit for purpose. Additionally, improvements in the 

commentary provided was noted over the past 12 month. For example, the Q3 performance report began including the population size to accompany KPIs that 

are percentage based. This helps provide better context for quarterly variances. 

 Performance reports are Red, Amber and Green (RAG) rated, and processes have been implemented to track the status of Amber and Red rated measures. 

This helps ensure that remedial actions are taken for areas performing below targets. 

 

51



   

 

Page 14 of 29 

 

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED 

The audit has highlighted the following area where one 'important' recommendation has been made.  

Performance Management 

 Service managers to submit performance measures in accordance with agreed intervals, and the Performance Management Framework. Instances of non-

compliance to be held to account through applicable escalation processes. 

The audit has also highlighted the following areas where five 'needs attention' recommendations have been made. 

Performance Management 

 A system of version control to be applied to the Performance Management Framework to include dates and details of reviews and changes. 

 Checks to be implemented by the Organisational Development and Performance team for the quality assurance of KPI reporting, including selected random 

sample testing of reported results against source data and supporting documentation (if applicable). 

Use of Pentana 

 The Organisational Development and Performance team to receive direct notification from Human Resources (HR) of all leavers and movers.  

Corporate Plan and Delivery Plan 

 Service Delivery Plans to be updated with the corresponding KPI, Risk, Start/End Date, and budget for actions currently underway, and be reviewed at specified 

intervals moving forward. 

 Review to be undertaken to ensure that all measures are assigned to both an active user and manager. Reassignment of measures to be promptly completed 

for leavers and following internal restructures of the organisation or other staffing changes moving forward. 

Operational Effectiveness Matters 

The operational effectiveness matters for management to consider relates to the following: 

 Consideration to be given to undertaking efforts to reduce the amount of manual intervention required in the production of KPI reporting. 

Previous audit recommendations 

This area has not been subject to a previous internal audit review. 

52



   

 

Page 15 of 29 

 

Assurance Review of BRK2203 Key Controls and Assurance 

Executive Summary 

 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT 

 

ACTION POINTS 

 

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational 

Accounts Payable  0 0 1 0 

Asset Management 0 0 1 0 

Total 0 0 2 0 

*No recommendations have been raised in respect of Accounts Receivable.    

SCOPE  

An annual review of key controls that feed into the Statement of Accounts, for those systems not subject to an audit review within year, has been completed.  

This covered Accounts Payable, Accounts Receivable and Asset Management. 

 

 

 

 

 

53



   

 

Page 16 of 29 

 

RATIONALE 

 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Substantial’ in managing the risks associated with the audit. The assurance opinion has 

been derived as a result of two ‘needs attention’ recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work.  

 The previous review of Key Controls and Assurance (BRK/21/03), completed in April 2021, concluded in a ‘Substantial’ assurance opinion with two ‘needs 

attention’ recommendations being raised. This therefore demonstrates that good level of control is being maintained.    

KEY FINDINGS 

 

Key Controls Testing 

There are a number of key controls within the fundamental financial systems that are required to be covered by internal audit each year, in order to support the Annual 

Governance Statement (AGS) and the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report and Opinion. 

The following audits were subject to full sample testing as part of this key controls audit:  

 Accounts Payable 

 Accounts Receivable  

 Asset Management  

This audit will refer to the conclusions drawn from the following systems, where full year testing was applied in a separate audit: 

 Annual Governance Statement (BRK/22/01) – Final report issued 10th March 2022 with a ‘Reasonable’ assurance. 

 Accountancy Services (BRK/22/04) – Final report issued 6th January 2022 with a ‘Substantial’ assurance. 

 Income (BRK/22/05) – Final report issued 4th January 2022 with a ‘Substantial’ assurance. 

 Payroll and HR (BRK/22/06) – Final report issued 4th January 2022 with a ‘Reasonable’ assurance. 

 

54



   

 

Page 17 of 29 

 

Controls relating to revenues and benefits are excluded from this review as they are covered separately by the audit provider for the Anglia Revenues and Benefits 

Partnership (ARP). 

 

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED 

 

The audit has highlighted the following areas where two 'needs attention' recommendations have been made. 

Accounts Payable  

 Diary notes be used to record the reason for all changes to supplier details. 

Asset Register  

 Monthly reconciliations between the asset register and general ledger be independently reviewed in a timely manner. This has subsequently been confirmed as 

implemented with no further action required.   

 
Previous audit recommendations  
There are no recommendations outstanding from the previous review of BRK/21/03 - Key Controls.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

55



   

 

Page 18 of 29 

 

Assurance Review of BRK2211 Licencing  

Executive Summary 

 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS 

 

No recommendations have been raised in respect of policies and procedures, 

processing applications (new and renewals) including panel hearings and committee 

process registrations, complaints, appeals and revocations of licenses, and recording 

and reconciliation of income (including fees). 

SCOPE 

The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Licensing, to help confirm that these are operating adequately, effectively and 

efficiently. The audit covered policies and procedures; processing applications (new and renewals) including panel hearings and committee process 

registrations; complaints, appeals and revocations of licenses; and recording and reconciliation of income (including fees).  

 

 

 

 

56



   

 

Page 19 of 29 

 

RATIONALE 

 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Substantial Assurance' in managing the risks associated with the audit. The assurance 

opinion has been derived as a result of no recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

 Licencing was last reviewed in 2016/17 (jointly with South Holland) and given a reasonable assurance grading. The review focused on licensing of Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles and Operators and receipting of income. 

POSITIVE FINDINGS 

 

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently: 

 The Council has an up to date Hackney Carriage and Private Hire policy dated January 2022 which provides guidance to applicants and other interested parties, 

Officers and Members thereby providing clarity on the approach the Council will take on taxi and private hire licensing matters. 

 The Council has an up to date Statement of Licensing Policy which makes reference to the Licensing Act (2003). The Policy took effect on 7th January 2021 and 

remains in force for a period of not more than five years; save that is for any future regulatory changes in the interim.  The policy ensures the promotion of the 

licensing objectives through the effective regulation of licensed premises, qualifying clubs and temporary events. 

 The Council’s website has details on how to apply for the different licences issued by the Council, thereby providing the general public with easy access to this 

information. 

 New licences and renewal licences are issued by the Council in accordance with relevant policies and procedures, to ensure public safety. 

 Revocation of licences are considered by the Licensing Panel in accordance with their delegated authority, to ensure public safety. 

 The Council receives correct fees prior to issuing of licences in order to ensure relevant funds due to the Council are collected and accounted for. 

 Complaints are investigated and complainants notified of the outcome in a timely manner, to ensure compliance with written procedure. 

 

 

57



   

 

Page 20 of 29 

 

 The licensing budget statement can be accessed on the Integra Finance system and reviewed by the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager. Quarterly 

meetings are held between the Management Accountant and the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager to ensure that the licencing team’s financial 

performance is regularly monitored. 

 

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED 

 

No recommendations have been raised.  

Operational Effectiveness Matters 

There are no operational effectiveness matters for management to consider. 

Previous audit recommendations 

The audit reviewed the previous internal audit recommendations and confirmed that these have now been implemented. 

Other Issues Noted 

 Web forms are available for Temporary Event Notices which went live on 5th January 2022 without facility to pay online. The online pay function became 

effective on 1st February 2022. No issues were found with this process. 

 South Holland District Council and Breckland Council have started the process of separating the public protection data on Tascomi to two separate systems. 

The Environmental Health and Licensing Manager stated that currently it is estimated that the work will start in March 2022 and will be complete by June/July 

2022.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

58



   

 

Page 21 of 29 

 

Assurance Review of BRK2210 Private Sector Housing  

Executive Summary 

 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS 

 

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational 

Policies and procedures 0 3 0 1 

Processing of applications  0 4 2 0 

Financial management 

and budget monitoring 

0 1 0 0 

Performance management  0 1 0 0 

Risk management  0 0 1 0 

Total 0 9 3 1 

 

SCOPE 

A limited assurance grading was given in the area in 2017/18 (BRK/18/02). This review was deferred from 2019/20 to allow the team to recruit required resource 

and complete actions from the peer review. This audit focused on DFGs and the contract management controls for adaptation works. Following agreement with 

senior management and the Head of Internal Audit at the scoping stage, the audit was completed in two stages, as detailed below in the introduction section.   

 

 

 

59



   

 

Page 22 of 29 

 

RATIONALE 

 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Limited’ assurance in managing the risks associated with the audit. The assurance opinion 

has been derived as a result of nine 'important' and three 'needs attention' recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

 The audit has also raised one 'operational effectiveness matter', which sets out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for 

service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services. 

 The previous final report on Private Sector Housing (BRK/18/02) was issued in May 2018, also with a Limited assurance, having raised three ‘urgent’, six 

‘important’ and three ‘needs attention’ recommendations.  

 Whilst the overall level of assurance remains unchanged, there is clear evidence, from both stages of this review (see Introduction below), that significant efforts 

have been and are still being made, to improve the service, including with a new team structure and allocation of resources and under new management.    

POSITIVE FINDINGS 

 

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently: 

 Since stage one of the review was completed, changes have been introduced to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the triage and information gathering 

functions so as to determine early on an applicant's eligibility to a Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG); both in terms of need and financial. The new arrangements 

prevent duplication with caseworkers calling the applicant to undertake a preliminary means test and also for the Assistant Practitioner / Occupational Therapist 

to gauge whether an assessment was needed and the urgency of the case.  

 A review of user access rights to Tascomi has been completed since stage one, which helps ensure they are reflective of current responsibilities. 

 

 

 

 

 

60



   

 

Page 23 of 29 

 

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED 

 

The audit has highlighted the following areas where nine 'important' recommendations have been made. 

Policies and procedures  

 The Council to update and approve a formal Housing Assistance Policy. This to include all housing assistance provided including Disable Facilities Grants 

(DFGs), Re-able Grants and Forget Me Not grants. The Policy to clearly detail the eligibility criteria for each type of grant and the processes to follow for applying 

for each. 

 Process charts and written procedures, be completed for processing Re-able Grants and for Forget Me Not grants. 

 Restrictions be put in place within Tascomi, that align with local procedure, in preventing an application being progressed until predetermined fields have been 

completed e.g. eligibility checks, costs/grant amount approval. 

Processing of applications 

 Evidence of eligibility for all housing assistance grants offered by the Council, including DFGs, must be recorded and uploaded to Tascomi before the application 

proceeds to the next stage.   

 For evidence to be retained of the cost of the works required and clear audit trails between Purchase Orders (POs) and invoices, including any variances and 

reasons for those variances.    

 For evidence to be retained of approvals for DFGs and other types of financial assistance provided (Reable Grant, Forget Me Not grant and Safety and Security 

Grant).   

 Completion Certificates be issued and uploaded to Tascomi for all DFGs and other relevant grant types, as appropriate. Where a Completion Certificate in not 

required, evidence still to be retained of checks provided including date of the check and the case worker undertaking the check.      

Financial management and budget monitoring 

 For Private Sector Housing and Finance to agree and retain accurate and comprehensive budget information on allocations, commitments and spend for DFGs 

and Re-able Grants and for all other financial assistance provided including Forget Me Not grants and Safety and Security Grants. 

 

 

61



   

 

Page 24 of 29 

 

Performance management  

 For management to ascertain the most effective and efficient means of collating performance data of processing DFGs, in order to accurately measure and 

monitor DFG activity. This to take in to account new processes and controls introduced since stage one of the audit review and others still to be introduced 

 

The audit has also highlighted the following areas where three 'needs attention' recommendations have been made. 

Processing of applications  

 All applicants to be notified in writing of their entitlement, or not, to a DFG with a copy of the letter uploaded to Tascomi.  

 To formally introduce client satisfaction surveys in order to evaluate client satisfaction with the service.  

Risk management 

 To introduce a formal risk or risks, with mitigations, in the service area register regarding the processing of DFGs where backlogs arise either whilst waiting to 

be assessed by the Occupational Therapist / Assistant Practitioner and or after they are passed to the Council for processing.   

Operational Effectiveness Matters 

The operational effectiveness matter, for management to consider, relates to the following: 

 The Council to consider updating the website in promoting housing assistance options.  

Previous audit recommendations 

The previous final report on Private Sector Housing (BRK/18/02) was issued in May 2018 with a Limited assurance having raised three ‘urgent’, six ‘important’ and 

three ‘needs attention recommendations. All nine recommendations had been confirmed as implemented through cyclical follow up checks.   

A Position Statement was issued in October 2021 for completion of stage one of this review. All action points have been followed up and where not completed, have 

been included in formal recommendations in this assurance report. 

 

 

 

 

 

62



   

 

Page 25 of 29 

 

Other points noted 

 In December 2021, the Private Sector Housing Team Leader was made aware of 52 DFG cases which had not been triaged. These enquiries dated from 

May 2021 to 22 December 2021 and had been received via the Breckland enquiry form. They had not been viewed so included urgent cases (such as end 

of life) and children’s cases (which needed to be signposted elsewhere). An action plan was drawn up to address these quickly to prevent further 

unnecessary delays to the client and also to clear the backlog.  This included review of basic information to see if any of the cases were urgent or child 

cases. Urgent cases were given to the caseworkers to carry out the information gathering and fast track. The child cases were passed to the IHAT Assistant 

Practitioner to check if they were known to them.  The applicant was contacted by phone to explain that an Occupational Therapist would be assessing their 

application. The remaining cases (which had increased to 63, due to new enquiries) were subject to dedicated information gathering sessions. Each 

applicant was contacted to gather information and undergo preliminary means testing and passed to the IHAT Assistant Practitioner/Occupational Therapist 

for prioritisation and assessment. On 17/01/2022, a further 37 cases were identified as requiring triage from the Social Services specialist call centre. These 

cases have also now been contacted by Occupational Therapist and were passed to the next stage of the assessment.  

 

 In order to prevent triage backlogs from reoccurring, with effect from 14/02/22 onwards, all new enquiries from the Breckland enquiry form go to the caseworkers 

to carry out information gathering. In addition, a formal process has been agreed with the Assistant Practitioner/Occupational Therapist that all enquiries which 

are received from the Social Services specialist call centre are passed to the caseworkers immediately.   

 With the exception of stair lifts, all work on Flagship properties is carried out by their own contractors under the supervision on their surveying team. However, 

the Council's Technical Officers and the Flagship surveyors were doubling up on work by both producing the following documents for each case:  

 Drafting schedules and drawings  

 Supervising work on site  

 Carrying out snagging inspections  

 Completion inspections.  

With effect from 01/04/22, for all minor works (such as level access showers, WCs, door widening) the four points above are undertaken by the Flagship 

surveyors. The Council will obtain proof of work and completion for each case and carry out a completion inspection of a small sample.  

The Council has introduced an approved list of contractors with effect from 01/04/22 for undertaking DFG works based on an agreed schedule of rates. At the time of 

reporting, there are five contractors signed up.   

 

 

 

 

63



   

 

Page 26 of 29 

 

Assurance Review of BRK2212 Environmental Services - Waste Management 

Executive Summary 

 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS 

 

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational 

Contract monitoring 0 2 1 0 

Gap analysis 0 1 0 0 

Performance and risk 0 0 1 0 

Total 0 3 2 0 

No recommendations have been raised in respect of contract change notices or 

payment mechanism. 

SCOPE 

The Council has entered into a joint waste management contract with North Norfolk District Council and Borough Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. The 

joint review was to provide assurance that the governance and performance arrangements being used to monitor the contract are effective.  

 

 

 

 

 

64



   

 

Page 27 of 29 

 

RATIONALE 

 

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Reasonable' in managing the risks associated with the audit. The assurance opinion has 

been derived as a result of three 'important' and two 'needs attention' recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

 The assurance opinion and the recommendations raised in this report relate to the Council’s management of the contract, rather than the contractor’s 

performance in delivering the services.  

 The previous audit of Environmental Services (BRK/18/08) was completed in August 2017 and also concluded in a ‘Reasonable’ assurance opinion, although 

this was under a different contract and therefore the findings are not directly comparable with this audit.  

POSITIVE FINDINGS 

 

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently: 

 A comprehensive contract is in place, consisting of the documents issued by the Councils and Serco's submissions, to ensure that all parties understand the 

requirements of the services to be provided. 

 Contract change notices have been used as required and are formally agreed, to ensure that the contract reflects the needs of the Council. 

 Data used for billing is provided by Serco and reviewed by the Council prior to invoices being raised. The data is queried and challenged as necessary before 

being agreed, to ensure that the Council is paying the correct amount in accordance with the contract. 

 The Council is using the platforms and mechanisms available within the contract, such as meetings and performance reports, to raise issues and hold the 

contractor to account, to ensure that all aspects of the service are being delivered. 

 

 

 

 

65



   

 

Page 28 of 29 

 

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED 

 

The audit has highlighted the following areas where three 'important' recommendations have been made. 

Contract monitoring 

 Review and update the Inter Authority Agreement to ensure that it is clear in terms of managing relations between all three member Authorities to reflect the 

operational status of the contract. In particular, this should include agreement on the principles which underpin how the contract should be managed for the 

benefit of all of the Councils, and on mechanisms for resolving disagreements between the Authorities if they arise. 

 Ensure that Serco complies fully with its complaints procedure and that there is audit trail to evidence this. Any non-compliances should be formally raised 

through the Operational Board meeting. A quarterly report should be made to the Contract Management Board by Serco along with details of corrective action 

taken. 

Gap analysis 

 A gap analysis has been undertaken by the Council to identify differences between the services agreed in the contract and those currently being delivered. 

Once the outcomes of the gap analysis have been agreed, an action plan to be put in place and be monitored regularly to ensure that outstanding items are 

fully resolved. 

The audit has also highlighted the following areas where two 'needs attention' recommendations have been made. 

Contract monitoring 

 To liaise with Serco over the content of the daily reports, to ensure that the information in the reports provides the Council with sufficient information to be able 

to monitor the effective delivery of the service as specified in the contract.  

Performance and risk 

 Review the risks associated with the contract and ensure that they are being adequately recorded and reported on within the Council. 

Operational Effectiveness Matters 

There are no operational effectiveness matters for management to consider. 

 

66



   

 

Page 29 of 29 

 

Previous audit recommendations 

The previous audit of Environmental Services (BRK/18/08) was completed in August 2017 and also concluded in a ‘Reasonable’ assurance opinion, with five ‘important’ 

and two ‘needs attention’ recommendations being raised. All of these recommendations have been confirmed as implemented. 

 

Other points noted 

 There have been delays and challenges with the contract mobilisation throughout the first year of the contract, which are in part attributable to changes in the 

operating environment since the contract was procured. The Covid-19 pandemic has led to increased staff absence, while the volume of domestic waste to 

collect has increased as a result of changes in people’s behaviour such as increased working from home. Serco have also experienced difficulties in recruitment, 

particularly of HGV drivers, which is linked to the UK leaving the European Union. 

 As a result of the issues noted above, Serco have been unable to implement the ‘Target Operating Model’ that was proposed in their tender submission. A new 

‘Target Operating Model’, the key element of which is a revision to collection rounds, has been agreed by the Council and wil l be implemented in March 2022. 

It is expected that this will lead to more efficient waste collections, with a consequent reduction in complaints, and will free up capacity for Serco to focus on 

delivering other aspects of the service. 

 The Council makes two types of payment under the contract on a monthly basis: a fixed base payment and a variable payment. The variable bill consists of two 

elements, costs to the Council based on volumes of certain elements and deductions for ‘performance failures’. As of February 2022, Serco has provided the 

volume data and performance data up to December 2021. However, neither of these have been agreed as accurate by the Council, so no variable invoices 

have been received or paid to date. Based on the data provided, the variable cost to the Council for the period April to December 2021 will be £776k, of which 

the majority consists of garden waste collections (£300k) and emptying litter/dog bins (£200k). The value of ‘performance failure deductions’, which are deducted 

from the variable cost, accrued in the same period is £350k, although there are restrictions and discretion over how of these will apply.  

 

67



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Head of Internal Audit  
 
To:    Governance and Audit Committee 23 June 2022 
 
Author:  Faye Haywood, Head of Internal Audit  
 
Subject: Annual Report and Opinion 2021/22 
 
Purpose: This report provides the Council with an Annual Report and Opinion for 

2021/22, drawing upon the outcomes of Internal Audit work performed over the 
course of the year. The report also concludes on the Effectiveness of Internal 
Audit.  

 
   

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) Receive and approve the contents of the Annual Report and Opinion of the Head of Internal 

Audit. 
 
2) Note that a reasonable audit opinion has been given in relation to governance, risk 

management and control for the year ended 31 March 2022. 
 
3) Note that the opinions expressed together with significant matters arising from internal 

audit work and contained within this report should be given due consideration, when 
developing and reviewing the Council’s Annual Governance Statement for 2021/22. 

 
4) Note the conclusions of the Review of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit. 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 In line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, which came into force from 1 April 
2013; an annual opinion should be generated which concludes on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and control; 

 A summary of the work that supports the opinion should be submitted; 

 Reliance placed on other assurance providers should be recognised; 

 Any qualifications to that opinion, together with the reason for qualification must be 
provided; 

 There should be disclosure of any impairments or restriction to the scope of the 
opinion; 

 There should be a comparison of actual audit work undertaken with planned work; 

 The performance of internal audit against its performance measures and targets 
should be summarised; and, 

 Any other issues considered relevant to the Annual Governance Statement should be 
recorded. 

1.2 This report also contains conclusions on the Review of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit, 
which includes;  

 The degree of conformance with the PSIAS and the results of any quality assurance 
and improvement programme; 

 The outcomes of the performance indicators; and, 

68

Agenda Item 9



 The degree of compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal 
Audit. 

 
2.0  CURRENT PROGRESS 
 

2.1 The Annual Report and Opinion 2021/22 and the Review of the Effectiveness of Internal 
 Audit are shown in the report attached. 

 
3.0  REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 

3.1 The Governance and Audit Committee, in maintaining an overview as to the quality of 
systems of internal control in operation at the Council, is being requested to note and approve 
the assurance opinion awarded, and confirm that key information provided is carried across 
to the Council’s Annual Governance Statement, which is also considered on the agenda.  

3.2.1 The Governace and Audit Committee, in ensuring it fulfils its obligations is being requested 
to review the effectiveness of the Internal Audit service, and to note and approve this report. 

 
4.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Corporate Priorities 
 
4.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas reviewed and ensuring that they are 

working towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities. 
 

Background papers: - None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post: Faye Haywood, Head of Internal Audit 
Telephone Number: 01508 533873 
Email: faye.haywood@southnorfolkandbroadland.gov.uk 
 
Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting  
Faye Haywood, Head of Internal Audit 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Exempt Decision: No 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  Annual Report and Opinion 2021/22 
 

 

69



   
  

Page 1 of 17 

 

Eastern Internal Audit Services 

 

 
 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

Annual Report and Opinion 2021/22 

Responsible Officer: Faye Haywood – Head of Internal Audit for Breckland Council 

 
CONTENTS 

 

1. INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................... 2 

2. ANNUAL OPINION OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT ..................................... 2 

2.1  Roles and responsibilities .................................................................................... 2 

2.2  The opinion itself .................................................................................................. 3 

3.  AUDIT WORK UNDERTAKEN DURING THE YEAR ............................................... 3 

4. THIRD PARTY ASSURANCES ................................................................................ 6 

5.  ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL AUDIT ................... 6 

APPENDIX 1 – AUDIT WORK UNDERTAKEN DURING 2021/22 ............................. 10 

APPENDIX 2 - ASSURANCE CHART ........................................................................ 12 

APPENDIX 3 – STATUS OF AGREED INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS . 15 

APPENDIX 4 – OUTSTANDING INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS ............ 16 

APPENDIX 5 – LIMITATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES .......................................... 17 

 

  

70



   
  

Page 2 of 17 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that “a relevant authority must undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance”. 

1.2 Those standards – the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards - require the Chief Audit 
Executive to provide a written report to those charged with governance (known in this context 
as the Audit and Risk Committee) to support the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). This 
report must set out:  

 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control during 2021/22, together with reasons if the 
opinion is unfavourable; 

 A summary of the internal audit work carried from which the opinion is derived, the 
follow up of management action taken to ensure implementation of agreed action as 
at financial year end and any reliance placed upon third party assurances; 

 Any issues that are deemed particularly relevant to the Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS); 

 The Annual Review of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit, which includes the level of 
compliance with the PSIAS and the results of any quality assurance and improvement 
programme, the outcomes of the performance indicators and the degree of compliance 
with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit. 

1.3 When considering this report, the statements made therein should be viewed as key items 
which need to be used to inform the organisation’s Annual Governance Statement, but there 
are also a number of other important sources to which the Governance and Audit Committee 
and statutory officers of the Council should be looking to gain assurance.   Moreover, in the 
course of developing overarching audit opinions for the authority, it should be noted that the 
assurances provided here, can never be absolute and therefore, only reasonable assurance 
can be provided that there are no major weaknesses in the processes subject to internal audit 
review. The annual opinion is thus subject to inherent limitations (covering both the control 
environment and the assurance over controls) and these are examined more fully at Appendix 
3. 

2. ANNUAL OPINION OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 

2.1  Roles and responsibilities 

 The Council is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk 
management processes, control systems, accounting records and governance 
arrangements. 

 The AGS is an annual statement by the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive 
that records and publishes the Council’s governance arrangements. 

 An annual internal audit opinion is required on the overall adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Council’s framework of governance, risk management and control, based upon 
and limited to the audit work performed during the year. 

This is achieved through the delivery of the risk based Annual Internal Audit Plan discussed 
and approved with Corporate Management Team and key stakeholders and then approved 
by the Governance and Audit Committee.   

71



   
  

Page 3 of 17 

 

The Internal Audit plan was approved at the meeting held on 24 June 2021. This opinion does 
not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and assurances, but it is one component to 
be considered during the preparation of the AGS.  

The Governance and Audit Committee should consider this opinion, together with any 
assurances from management, its own knowledge of the Council and any assurances 
received throughout the year from other review bodies such as the external auditor. 

2.2  The opinion itself 

The overall opinion in relation to the framework of governance, risk management and control 
at Breckland Council is reasonable overall. 

 
It is encouraging to note that of the 15 assurance audits completed within the year, 14 resulted 
in a positive assurance grading.  

 
Substantial assurance was concluded in the following areas: 
 

 Key Controls and Assurance 

 Income 

 Accountancy Services 

 Licensing 

 ARP Enforcement  
 

A total of one assurance report, the Private Sector Housing has received a Limited assurance 
grading. A total of nine important and three needs attention recommendations have been 
raised for management consideration.  
 
We recommend that the important priority findings raised within this report are referenced 
within the Council’s Annual Governance Statement, until such time that verification work to 
demonstrate that improvements are embedded is undertaken, a summary of those 
recommendations can be found at section 3.5 of this report.  
 
Two position statements have been provided in key areas to suggest improvements. These 
are for Legal Services and Digital Strategy. Suggested actions for both areas have been raised 
for management consideration.  
 
In addition, all Anglian Revenue Partnership (ARP) assurance work has resulted in positive 
assurances overall.  

 
In providing the opinion the Council’s risk management framework and supporting processes, 
the relative materiality of the issues arising from the internal audit work during the year and 
management’s progress in addressing any control weaknesses identified therefrom have been 
taken into account. 
 
The opinion has been presented to the Section 151 Officer and members of the Corporate 
Management Team prior to publication. 
 

3.  AUDIT WORK UNDERTAKEN DURING THE YEAR 

3.1 Appendix 1 records the internal audit work delivered during the year on which the opinion is 
based, and provides the assurance opinion, the number of recommendations raised and the 
year-end position in addressing the issues raised.  

72



   
  

Page 4 of 17 

 

In addition, Appendix 2 is attached which shows the assurances provided over previous & 
current financial years to provide an overall picture of the control environment. This assurance 
chart highlights the progress that has been made in areas whereby negative assurances have 
previously been concluded.  

3.2 Internal audit work is divided into 4 broad categories: 

 Annual opinion audits;  

 Fundamental financial systems that underpin the Council’s financial processing and 
reporting; 

 Service area audits identified as worthy of review by the risk assessment processes 
within internal audit; 

 Significant computer systems which provide the capability to administer and control 
the Council’s main activities. 

3.3 Summary of the internal audit work 

A total of 140 days of internal audit work has been undertaken in 2021/22 by the Internal Audit 
provider TIAA resulting in 11 assurance reviews. A total of 10 assurance reviews have 
concluded with positive assurance gradings including four substantial assurance and six 
reasonable assurance.  
 
One audit in the area of Private Sector Housing concluded with a limited assurance grading.  

Three position statements have also been completed to support in year assurances. The 
Digital Strategy position statement in draft for management consideration. 

 The results of the EIAS assurance reports have been presented to the Governance and Audit 
Committee throughout the year, ensuring open and transparent reporting and enabling the 
Committee to review key service area controls and the conclusions reached.  

 In arriving at the overall opinion reliance has also been placed on third party assurances for 
key financial controls provided by West Suffolk Internal Audit Services, East Suffolk Internal 
Audit Services and Fenland Internal Audit Services.  

One of these reports, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Overpayments remains in draft 
awaiting formal issue at the time of writing this report. This work has been delayed due to the 
service area assisting with the Council Tax Energy Rebate. Council Tax and Housing Benefits, 
NNDR and ARP Enforcement reports have been finalised. 

The NNDR assurance work has resulted in a reasonable assurance grading. The report has 
now been issued by the East Suffolk Internal Audit Services team. A total of 6 medium 
recommendations have been raised. The ARP Enforcement work undertaken by Fenland 
District Council has been finalised and resulted in a substantial assurance grading with no 
high or medium recommendations to address.  

The Council Tax billing and Housing Benefits work has concluded with a total of 14 medium 
recommendations raised.  

Whilst the number of recommendations raised in this report appears high, the issues raised 
cover the ARP Partnership as a whole. The Head of Internal Audit has been assured by the 
auditors that the recommendations do not represent a significant risk when balanced with the 
number of transactions which are being processed. A proportion of the findings relate to 
process improvements, system or timeliness points and some relate to errors. The auditors 
confirm that quality assurance checking for Council Tax transactions is not a mandatory 

73



   
  

Page 5 of 17 

 

requirement but is being carried out on 6.9% of the overall total. For housing benefit, it is 
currently 7.6% which is over the 4% standard.  
 
For Council Tax and Housing Benefit Overpayments a reasonable assurance grading has 
been provided. A total of six medium recommendations have been raised and are currently 
being discussed with management.  

3.4 Follow up of management action - TIAA 

In relation to the follow up of management actions to ensure that they have been effectively 
implemented the position at year end 2021/22 is that out of 42 recommendations raised and 
formally agreed, none remain outstanding at year end. A total of 18 have been implemented 
and 24 are not yet due.  

 One needs attention recommendation remains outstanding from 2019/20, which relates to 
Asset Management. 

 Two needs attention recommendations remain outstanding from 2018/19. One of these relates 
to Housing Needs, and the other is in relation to Cyber Security.   

Please refer to Appendix 3, which shows the details of the progress made to date in relation 
to the implementation of the agreed recommendations and Appendix 4, which provides an 
update from management regarding all outstanding recommendations.  

3.5 Issues for inclusion in the Annual Governance Statement  

Overall, in 2021/22 a total of 15 Internal Audit assurance audits will have been carried out 
including those provided by the ARP audit arrangement.  

A total of 14 of these have resulted in a positive assurance grading. No urgent priority 
recommendations have been raised in 2021/22 or remain overdue from historical limited 
assurance reports.  

We do however recommend that the nine important recommendations raised from the limited 
assurance private sector housing audit are referenced within the Annual Governance 
Statement until such time that they can be verified as complete. The recommendations are 
summarised as follows:  

Policies and procedures  

1. The Council to update and approve a formal Housing Assistance Policy. 2. Process charts 

and written procedures to be completed for processing Re-able grants and Forget Me Not grants 

and 3. Restrictions be put in place within Tascomi, to preventing an application being 

progressed until predetermined fields have been completed.   

Processing of applications 

4. Evidence of eligibility for all housing assistance grants be recorded and uploaded to Tascomi 

before the application proceeds to the next stage.  5. For evidence to be retained of the cost of 

the works required and clear audit trails between Purchase Orders (POs) and invoices, including 

any variances and reasons for those variances. 6. For evidence to be retained of approvals for 

DFGs and other types of financial assistance provided. 7. Completion certificates be issued and 

uploaded to Tascomi for all DFGs and other relevant grant types, as appropriate.  

 

74



   
  

Page 6 of 17 

 

Financial management and budget monitoring 

8. For Private Sector Housing and Finance to agree and retain accurate and comprehensive 

budget information on allocations, commitments and spend. 

Performance management  

9. For management to ascertain the most effective and efficient means of collating performance 

data of processing DFGs, to accurately measure and monitor DFG activity. 

4. THIRD PARTY ASSURANCES 

As described within the summary of internal audit work section, in arriving at the overall opinion 
reliance has also been placed on third party assurances for key financial controls provided by 
West Suffolk Internal Audit Services, East Suffolk Internal Audit Services and Fenland Internal 
Audit Services. 

Reliance is placed on this work by ensuring that protocols are in place to share audit 
programmes with the Head of Internal Audit before the start of the audit and on conclusion of 
the audit. A draft report is provided for review and comment. This approach enables input into 
the scope of the audit to ensure that all pertinent areas are covered. It also enables a detailed 
review of the work that has been undertaken and to agree with the conclusions that are 
reached and the recommendations that are raised. In addition to the audit process, the Head 
of Internal Audit meets regularly with members of the audit partnership to discuss 
improvements and the service level agreement.  

5.  ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL AUDIT 

5.1 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) 

5.1.1 Internal Assessment 

A checklist for conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the 
Local Government Application Note has been completed for 2021/22. This covers; the 
Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the Standards.  

The Attribute Standards address in particular the; Purpose, Authority and Responsibility, 
Independence and Objectivity, Proficiency and Due Professional Care, and Quality Assurance 
and Improvement Programme of the Internal Audit Service. 

The Performance Standards describe the nature of Internal Audit activities and provide quality 
criteria against which the performance of these services can be evaluated, in particular; 
Managing the Internal Audit Activity, Nature of Work, Engagement Planning, Performing the 
Engagement, Communicating Results, Monitoring Progress and Communicating the 
Acceptance of Risks. 

On conclusion of completion of the checklist conformance has been ascertained in relation to 
the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the Performance Standards. 

5.1.2 External Assessment 

In relation to the Attribute Standards it is recognised that to achieve full conformance an 
external assessment is needed. This is required to be completed every five years, with the 
last review having been completed in January 2017 and the next due for October 2022.  

The previous external assessment was undertaken by the Institute of Internal Auditors in 2017 
and it has concluded that “the internal audit service conforms to the professional 

75



   
  

Page 7 of 17 

 

standards and the work has been performed in accordance with the Internal 
Professional Practices Framework”. Thus, confirming conformance to the required 
standards. 

The external assessment report has previously been provided to the Section 151 Officer and 
the Governance and Audit Committee. 

5.2 Performance Indicator outcomes 

5.2.1 The Internal Audit Service and TIAA contract is benchmarked against several performance 
indicators as agreed by the Governance and Audit Committee.  

Actual performance against these targets is outlined within the following table: 

76



   
  

Page 8 of 17 

 

Area / Indicator Frequency Target Actual  Comments 
Audit Committee / Senior Management 

1. Audit Committee Satisfaction – 
measured annually 

2. Chief Finance Officer 
Satisfaction – measured 
quarterly 

 
 
Annual 
 
Annual  

 
 
Adequate 
 
Good 

 
 
TBC 
 
Good 

 
 
Requested  
 
Achieved 
 

Internal Audit Process 
3. Each quarters audits completed 

to draft report within 10 working 
days of the end of the quarter 

 
4. Quarterly assurance 

(performance) reports to the 
Contract Manager within 15 
working days of the end of 
each quarter 
 

5. An audit file supporting each 
review and showing clear 
evidence of quality control 
review shall be completed prior 
to the issue of the draft report 
(a sample of these will be 
subject to quality review by the 
Contract Manager) 
 

6. Compliance with Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards 
 

7. Respond to the Contract 
Manager within 3 working days 
where unsatisfactory feedback 
has been received. 

 
Quarterly 
 
 
 
Quarterly  
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Annual 
 
 
Ongoing 

 
100% 
 
 
 
100% 
 
 
 
 
 
100% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Generally 
conforms 
 
100% 
 
 
 

 
45% 
 
 
 
0% 
 
 
 
 
 
100% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Generally 
conforms 
 
n/a 

 
Not achieved 
 
 
 
Not achieved  
 
 
 
 
 
Achieved  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Achieved  
 
 
 

Clients 
8. Average feedback score 

received from key clients 
(auditees) 
 

9. Percentage of 
recommendations accepted by 
management 

 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
Ongoing 

 
Adequate 
 
 
 
90% 

 
Good 
 
 
 
100% 

 
Exceeded – eight 
responses received  
 
 
Exceeded 

Innovations and Capabilities 
10. Percentage of qualified 

(including experienced) staff 
working on the contract each 
quarter 

11. Number of training hours per 
member of staff completed per 
quarter 

 
Quarterly 
 
 
 
Quarterly 

 
60% 
 
 
 
1 day 
 

 
92% 
 
 
 
1 day 

 
Exceeded  
 
 
 
Achieved  

5.2.2 Performance has not been in line within the boundaries of our agreed targets in some areas 
during 2021/22 such as the issuing of draft reports 10 day after quarter end and performance 
reports being provided within a 15 working day window after quarter end.  

As reported to the Governance and Audit Committee throughout the year, Internal Audit 
performance has continued to be impacted in 2021/22 by the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
development and approval of the 2021/22 internal audit plan in quarter two had an impact on 
the profiling and resourcing of the internal audit plan. A period of adjustment was also required 
in response to prolonged remote working practices. Contractor resourcing and sickness were 
also a key challenge throughout the year.  

77



   
  

Page 9 of 17 

 

This performance result has been experienced across the internal audit consortium in 2021/22 
with other third-party assurance providers also reporting similar challenges.  Resourcing levels 
did settle in time to ensure the 2021/22 plan of work could be completed.  

 In response to the challenges faced this year, the Head of Internal Audit has enhanced 
communication and monitoring arrangements. The contractor has also committed to reviewing 
resource planning processes by allocating resources and booking in audits well in advance of 
the proposed start date.  

The 2021/22 procurement exercise has now concluded which will see the current contractor 
continue to provide the Internal Audit service. The Head of Internal Audit has used this 
opportunity strengthen the key performance measures around timeliness included within the 
contract.   

5.3 Effectiveness of the Head of Internal Audit (HIA) arrangements as measured against the 
CIPFA Role of the HIA 

5.3.1 This Statement sets out the 5 principles that define the core activities and behaviours that 
apply to the role of the Head of Internal Audit, and the organisational arrangements to support 
them. The principles are: 

 Champion best practice in governance, objectively assessing the adequacy of 
governance and management of risks; 

 Give an objective and evidence-based opinion on all aspects of governance, risk 
management and internal control; 

 Undertake regular and open engagement across the Authority, particularly with the 
Management Team and the Audit Committee; 

 Lead and direct an Internal Audit Service that is resourced to be fit for purpose; and 

 Head of Internal Audit to be professionally qualified and suitably experienced. 

Completion of the checklist confirms full compliance with the CIPFA guidance on the Role of 
the Head of Internal Audit in relation to the 5 principles set out within. 

The detailed checklist has been forwarded to the Section 151 Officer for independent scrutiny 
and verification. 

 

 

 

78



 

Page 10 of 17 

 

APPENDIX 1 – AUDIT WORK UNDERTAKEN DURING 2021/22 

 
Audit Area Assurance Level Number of 

Recs 
Implemented Outstanding Not yet 

due  P1 P2 P3 

Annual Governance Statement  Reasonable 5 5 0 0 0 0 

Performance Management, Corporate Policy 
and Business Planning 

Reasonable 6 0 0 0 0 6 

Key Controls & Assurance Substantial 2 1 0 0 0 1 

Accountancy Services Substantial 1 1 0 0 0 0 

Income Substantial 0 0 0 0 0 0 

HR and Payroll Reasonable 5 5 0 0 0 0 

COVID-19 Business Grants Reasonable 4 4 0 0 0 0 

Legal Services  Position Statement       

Contact Centre Reasonable 2 2 0 0 0 0 

Private Sector Housing includes DFGs, 
empty properties & enforcement, HMO 
licensing & standards 

Limited  12 0 0 0 0 12 

Licensing Substantial 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Environmental Services – Waste 
Management 

Reasonable  5 0 0 0 0 5 

Office 365 Email and Calendar Management TBC       

Digital Strategy  Position Statement (Draft)       

Total  42 18 0 0 0 24 

 
Audit Area – ARP Audits Assurance Level Number of Recs 

Housing and Council Tax Benefit Reasonable  14 

Recovery and Overpayments Reasonable (DRAFT) 6 

NNDR  Reasonable  6 

Enforcement   Substantial 0 

Total  26 

 

79



 

Page 11 of 17 

 

Assurance level definitions Number 

Substantial Assurance Based upon the issues identified there is a robust series of suitably designed controls 
in place upon which the organisation relies to manage the risks to the continuous and 
effective achievement of the objectives of the process, and which at the time of our audit 
review were being consistently applied. 

5 

Reasonable Assurance Based upon the issues identified there is a series of internal controls in place, however 
these could be strengthened to facilitate the organisations management of risks to the 
continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process. Improvements 
are required to enhance the controls to mitigate these risks. 

9 

Limited Assurance Based upon the issues identified the controls in place are insufficient to ensure that the 
organisation can rely upon them to manage the risks to the continuous and effective 
achievement of the objectives of the process. Significant improvements are required to 
improve the adequacy and effectiveness of the controls to mitigate these risks. 

1 

No Assurance Based upon the issues identified there is a fundamental breakdown or absence of core 
internal controls such that the organisation cannot rely upon them to manage risk to the 
continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process. Immediate action 
is required to improve the controls required to mitigate these risks. 

0 

 
Urgent – Priority 1 Fundamental control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 1 month. 

Important Priority 2 Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 3 months. 

Needs Attention – Priority 3 Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 6 months. 

  

80



 

Page 12 of 17 

 

 APPENDIX 2 - ASSURANCE CHART  

 
  2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

 
Annual Opinion / Corporate Audits  

Corporate Governance    Reasonable Reasonable Substantial      

Risk Management   Reasonable   Maturity 
Assessment 

     

Coronavirus Response and Recovery     Position Statement      

Corporate Performance and Corporate Plan   Reasonable   Reasonable    

Procurement & Contract Management Limited Reasonable  Position Statement   X  

ARP Governance Reasonable          

GDPR Data Protection, FoI, Complaints         X  

Annual Governance Statement       Reasonable    

Key Controls and Assurance Substantial Substantial Substantial Substantial X  

Fundamental Financial Systems  

Accounts Receivable   Substantial        

Income / Remittances   Substantial   Substantial    

Accountancy Services   Substantial   Substantial    

Housing Benefit and Council Tax billing* Reasonable Reasonable Reasonable Reasonable  X  

National Non-Domestic Rates* Reasonable Reasonable Reasonable Reasonable  X  

Overpayments* Reasonable Reasonable Reasonable Reasonable  X  

ARP Enforcement* Substantial Substantial Substantial Substantial X  

Accounts Payable Substantial   Substantial   X  

Covid-19 Business Grants       Reasonable    

Payroll / HR Limited     Reasonable    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81



 

Page 13 of 17 

 

  2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

 
Service Area Audits  

Breckland Bridge   Substantial        

Economy and Growth Reasonable       X  

Asset Management   Substantial     X  

Delivery Unit Team Position 
Statement 

         

Development Management  / Planning   Reasonable     X  

Building Control   Reasonable        

CAPITA Performance Information   Reasonable        

Housing needs, allocation, homelessness, housing 
register and PSH 

Limited    Reasonable      

Disabled Facilities Grants and discretionary improvement 
grants 

      Limited    

Private Sector Housing - Empty Homes, HMOs, 
Enforcement 

        X  

Strategic Housing includes New Homes Bonus, 
Affordable Housing Initiatives, Home Options 

    Reasonable      

Democratic Services Reasonable          

Safeguarding     Reasonable      

Elections and Electoral Registration            

Environmental Services - Waste Management       Reasonable     

Licensing       Substantial    

Corporate Health & Safety            

Strategic Enforcement   Position 
Statement 

       

Environmental Protection   Reasonable        

Legal Services       Position Statement    

Contact Centre       Reasonable    

Sustainability and Climate Change         X  

Business Continuity and Emergency Planning         X  

Vulnerability Strategy         X  

Food, Health and Safety Reasonable       X  

 
 
 

82



 

Page 14 of 17 

 

  2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

 
ICT Audits  

Disaster Recovery, Back Up and Data Centre   Reasonable     X  

Software Licence Management Reasonable          

Content Management            

IT Project Delivery            

Cyber Security Reasonable       X  

IT Strategy    Position 
Statement 

       

Remote Access   Substantial        

Office 365 Email and Calendar Management            

Digital Strategy       Position Statement    

Service Desk Substantial          

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

83



 

Page 15 of 17 

 

APPENDIX 3 – STATUS OF AGREED INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

84



 

Page 16 of 17 

 

APPENDIX 4 – OUTSTANDING INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
Job Recommendation Priority Responsible 

Officer 
Due Date Revised 

Due Date 
Number 
of times 
revised 

Status Latest Response 

BRK1906 
Housing 
Needs  

The Central Contract and Procurement 
Team is requested to review the 
potential for contracts with the two 
main suppliers of temporary 
accommodation 
 

3 Gill Duffy, 
Housing 
Manager 

21/09/2019 30/12/2022 3 Outstanding The contracts and procurement 
team put this on hold due to the 
pandemic and other priorities.  It is 
now back on the radar and the 
Contracts and the Procurement 
Manager will meet with The Housing 
Manager to put something in place 
to review this. 
 
In the meantime, Elm House is due 
to come online in March 2022 and 
will provide 17 units of temporary 
accommodation, owned by the 
council and managed by a provider, 
secured through a procurement 
process. 
 

BRK1916 
Cyber Security 

A forensics readiness approach must 
be implemented for implementation 
and management of the organisation’s 
digital systems and staff responsible 
for responding to incidents must be 
trained in the process.  An established 
incident response capability must be in 
place and tested alongside a data 
recovery capability. 
 

3 Been Meen, 
ICT and Digital 
Manager  

31/10/2019 30/09/2022 3 Outstanding The team are working on a 
document detailing our forensic 
readiness approach, but as there are 
ongoing projects looking at making 
substantive changes to our DR 
infrastructure, this is unlikely to be 
concluded until we know the 
direction of travel RE: the future DR 
solution. 

BRK2014 
Asset 
Management 

The timing and dates for devising the 
new Corporate Asset Management 
Strategy to be set, showing when the 
Investment Assets are to feed into this, 
ahead of the April 2020 deadline. 
 

3 Ralph Burton, 
AD Property 
and 
Infrastructure 

31/03/2020 30/09/2022 2 Outstanding This recommendation has been 
extended to 30th September 2022 to 
allow the Council time to acquire an 
external resource to complete this 
task and to report the action as 
completed for this year’s review of 
the Financial Management Code.  
 

 
 

85



 

Page 17 of 17 

 

APPENDIX 5 – LIMITATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Limitations inherent to the Internal Auditor’s work 
 
The Internal Audit Annual Report has been prepared and TIAA Ltd (the Internal Audit Services 
contractor) were engaged to undertake the agreed programme of work as approved by management 
and the Governance and Audit Committee, subject to the limitations outlined below. 
 
Opinions 
 
The opinions expressed are based solely on the work undertaken in delivering the approved 2021/22 
Internal Audit Plan. The work addressed the risks and control objectives agreed for each individual 
planned assignment as set out in the corresponding audit planning memorandums (terms of 
reference) and reports. 
 
Internal Control  
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve corporate/service policies, aims and objectives: it can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.   Internal control systems essentially 
rely on an ongoing process of identifying and prioritising the risks to the achievement of the 
organisation’s policies, aims and objectives, evaluating the likelihood of those risks being realised and 
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.   
That said, internal control systems, no matter how well they have been constructed and operated, are 
affected by inherent limitations.   These include the possibility of poor judgement in decision-making, 
human error, control processes being deliberately circumvented by employees and others, 
management overriding controls and the occurrence of unforeseeable circumstances. 
 
Future Periods 
 
Internal Audit’s assessment of controls relating to Breckland District Council is for the year ended 31 
March 2022.   Historic evaluation of effectiveness may not be relevant to future periods due to the risk 
that: 

 The design of controls may become inadequate because of changes in the operating 
environment, law, regulation or other matters; or, 

 The degree of compliance with policies and procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Internal Auditors 
 
It is management’s responsibility to develop and maintain sound systems of risk management, internal 
control and governance and for the prevention and detection of irregularities and fraud.   Internal Audit 
work should not be a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the design and operation of 
these systems. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit has sought to plan Internal Audit work, so that there is a reasonable 
expectation of detecting significant control weaknesses and, if detected, additional work will then be 
carried out which is directed towards identification of consequent fraud or other irregularities.   
However, internal audit procedures alone, even when carried out with due professional care, do not 
guarantee that fraud will be detected and TIAA’s examinations as the Council’s internal auditors 
should not be relied upon to disclose all fraud, defalcations or other irregularities which may exist. 
 
 
 
 

86



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Phillip Cowen - Executive Member Finance, Revenues and 

Benefits   
  

To: Governance and Audit Committee 23 June 2022 
 Full Council: 7 July 2022 
 
Author: Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 
 
Subject:  Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service and Actual Prudential 

Indicators 2021/22 
 
Purpose: The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local 

Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury report reviewing 
treasury management activities and the actual prudential and treasury 
indicators for 2021/22. This report meets the requirements of both the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential 
Code).  

 

 
Recommendations:  

 
Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 
 
1) To approve the actual 2021/22 prudential indicators within this report 
 
2) To note the Treasury Management Annual Report for 2021/22 at Appendix B and Appendix 

C 
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 During 2021/22 the minimum reporting requirements were that Governance and Audit 

Committee should receive the following reports:  
 

 An annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Governance and Audit Committee 
17th December 2020)  

 A mid-year (minimum) treasury update report (Governance and Audit Committee 2nd 
December 2021) 

 An annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to the 
strategy (this report)  
 
The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and scrutiny 
of treasury management policy and activities. This report is therefore important in enabling 
Members to fulfil this responsibility, as it provides details of the outturn position for 
treasury activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies previously 
approved by Members.  
 
To support Members scrutiny role, Member training on treasury management usually 
takes place annually and last took place in October 2021. An update from Link Asset 
Services, the Councils Treasury Management Advisors, on the economy and interest 
rates as of May 2022 (reflecting the Bank of England’s increase in the Base Rate in May) 
is attached to this report at Appendix A. 

87

Agenda Item 10



 
2.0 OVERALL TREASURY MANAGEMENT POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2022 
 
2.1 During 2021/22, the Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements. The 

key actual prudential and treasury indicators detailing the impact of capital expenditure 
activities during the year, with comparators, are as follows: 

 

Prudential and treasury 
indicators 

31.3.21 
Actual 
£000 

2021/22 
Budget 
£000 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£000 

Capital expenditure 7,246 8,622 6,613 

 
Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR): 

 

Nil (276) 202 

Gross borrowing Nil Nil Nil 

External debt Nil Nil Nil 

 
Investments 
 Longer than 1 year 
 Under 1 year 
 Total 
 

 
0 

27,398 
27,398 

 

 
0 

40,562 
40,562 

Net borrowing Nil Nil Nil 

 
 
2.2 The investments total excludes loans to Breckland Bridge which fall outside of the 

treasury reporting requirement. These loans enhance the Council’s investment return. 
(Further details in Appendix B). 
 

2.3 Other prudential and treasury indicators can be found at Appendix B. The Assistant 
Director Finance also confirms that no borrowing was undertaken for any purpose and the 
statutory borrowing limit (the authorised limit) was not breached. The financial year 
2021/22 continued the challenging investment environment of previous years, namely low 
investment returns. As at 31st March 2022, the Council’s external debt was Nil (Nil at 31st 
March 2021) and its investments totalled £40.562m (£27.398m at 31st March 2021). The 
increase in investments reflected a one-off grant to provide the £150 Council Tax Rebate 
to households to help them to cope with higher energy bills, which was received at the 
end of March 2022, but applied to Council Tax accounts in 2022/23.   

 
3.0 OPTIONS 
 
3.1 Note the treasury management stewardship report for 2021/22 and Recommend to Full 

Council to approve the actual 2021/22 prudential indicators, without amendment. 
 
3.2 Make changes before noting the treasury management annual report for 2021/22 as 

presented and recommending to Full Council to approve the actual 2021/22 prudential 
indicators. 

 
4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To meet the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 

and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 

88



 
5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
5.1 The Council is required through regulation to report the outturn position for last year. By 

approving the outturn report, this will ensure the Council has confirmed compliance with 
regulations and has identified the starting position for treasury activity in the forthcoming 
year. 

 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
 Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
 these headings, these are identified below. 
 
6.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  
6.1.1 Where it is able to do so in compliance with regulations, the Council may choose to make 

investments with counterparties who invest in sustainable activities. 
 
6.2  Constitution & Legal 
6.2.1 Local Government Act 2003 

 
6.3 Financial  
6.3.1 This report is required by regulation and contributes towards the sound financial 

management of the authority. 
 
6.4 Reputation  
6.4.1 This report is required by regulation and contributes towards the sound financial 

management of the authority. 
 
6.5 Risk Management  
6.5.1 Risks are included in the report and appendices. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 CFR – Capital Financing Requirement 
7.2 CIPFA - Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
7.3 CPI - Consumer Price Index 
7.4 DLUHC – Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
7.5 DMADF – Debt Management Account Deposit Facility 
7.6 LIBID – London Interbank Bid Rate 
7.7 MPC - Monetary Policy Committee of the Bank of England 
7.8 MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision 
7.9 PFI – Private Finance Initiative 
7.10 PWLB - Public Works Loans Board 
7.11 SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average 
 

Background papers:- None 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 

89



Telephone Number: 07425 618457 
Email: Matthew.Fernandez-Graham@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 
 
Appendices attached to this report: 
 
Appendix A The economy and interest rate forecast (as at May 2022) 
Appendix B  Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service 2021/22 

(Incorporating Outturn Prudential Indicators)  
Appendix C March 2022 Treasury Performance Report 

90



 

 

Part of Link Group 

Updated 
Interest Rate 
Forecast  
10th May 2022 

91



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 2 

LINK GROUP UPDATED INTEREST RATE FORECAST 
 
Updating of our forecasts 10th May 2022 

 

• We have forecast that the MPC will reluctantly increase Bank Rate at a much faster pace through 
2022 to try and keep inflation in check, with further rises of 0.25% in June, and then in each of the 
three subsequent quarters to peak at 2% by the close of the calendar year.  However, those increases 
in Bank Rate are likely to add to the considerable headwinds impacting the UK economy and, 
therefore, tentatively we have priced in a small reduction in Bank Rate in 2024.  As 2022 proceeds we 
will be in a better position to judge the overall strength of those economic headwinds and will revise 
our forecast as appropriate. 

• Gilt yields and, therefore, PWLB rates, have been highly volatile since the start of Q4 2021 and that 
trend has continued throughout the first four months of 2022; indeed, they have risen sharply as 
concerns focusing on inflation and the secondary round effects, as measured by wage inflation, have 
taken centre stage. 

• At the MPC’s 5th May meeting, the 6-3 vote in favour of a 0.25% Bank Rate increase to 1% was 
followed by a press conference in which it became clear that the nine members of the Committee had 
varying concerns and voted accordingly.  Some emphasised the slowing economy; others the degree 
to which inflation could rapidly become uncontrollable unless monetary policy was tightened very 
promptly; and others saw labour shortages as having to be dampened to prevent spiralling wage 
demands.   

• The fact that the economy is forecast to flatline in Q2 and Q3 2022 is an added complication for policy 
makers, and the forecast -0.9% contraction in the economy in Q4 2022 followed by a further -0.2% 
contraction in Q2 2023 only adds to the growing possibility that the UK economy may fall into recession 
at some point during the next year. 

• International factors cannot be ignored.  The war in Ukraine has added to already present inflationary 
pressures, as economies bounced back from the effects of Covid-induced lockdowns.  Pricing 
pressure pertaining to oil, gas, electricity, wheat and fertilisers are only some of the better-known 
aspects.   

• Moreover, reductions in the number of people actively seeking employment have also put upward 
pressure on wages and those costs are likely to be passed on to consumers.  Regarding the UK, Brexit 
factors will also have had a negative impact on the number of workers with appropriate skill-sets 
available to fill the current record 1.3m job vacancies. 

• PWLB rates have risen sharply since the turn of the year, in line with similar movements in bond 
markets in developed economies.   

• Financial markets are currently pricing in increases to Bank Rate to c2.5% by April 2023.  So, although 
we have increased our Bank Rate forecast significantly, we are still positioned some 50bps lower than 
market expectations.  However, from a PWLB perspective, we believe that the market has already 
priced in most of the increases that pertain to the high inflation outlook (peaking at 10.2% on the CPI 
measure in Q4 2022 according to the Bank). 

• LIBOR and LIBID rates ceased at the end of 2021. In a continuation of our previous forecasts, our 
money market yield forecasts are based on expected average earnings by local authorities for 3 to 12 
months. 

• Our forecasts for average earnings are averages i.e., rates offered by individual banks may differ 
significantly from these averages, reflecting their different needs for borrowing short-term cash at any 
one point in time. 

Bank Rate Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25 Jun-25

10.5.22 1.25 1.50 1.75 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75

7.2.22 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

change 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50

92



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 3 

Our current and previous PWLB rate forecasts below are based on the Certainty Rate (the standard rate minus 
20 bps) which has been accessible to most authorities since 1st November 2012.  

 

 

 

 

 

Link Group Interest Rate View 10.5.22

Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25 Jun-25

BANK RATE 1.25 1.50 1.75 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75

  3 month ave earnings 1.20 1.50 1.70 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70

  6 month ave earnings 1.60 1.90 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.10 2.00 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90

12 month ave earnings 2.00 2.20 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.30 2.30 2.20 2.20 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10

5 yr   PWLB 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50

10 yr PWLB 2.80 2.80 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80

25 yr PWLB 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.20 3.10 3.10 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

50 yr PWLB 2.70 2.80 2.80 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.80 2.80 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70

Link Group Interest Rate View 7.2.22

Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25

BANK RATE 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

  3 month ave earnings 1.00 1.00 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20

  6 month ave earnings 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

12 month ave earnings 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.60 1.60 1.50 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40

5 yr   PWLB 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30

10 yr PWLB 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40

25 yr PWLB 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60

50 yr PWLB 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40

93



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 4 

A SUMMARY OVERVIEW OF THE FUTURE PATH OF BANK RATE 

• Our central forecast for interest rates was previously updated on 7th February and reflected a view 
that the MPC will be keen to further demonstrate its anti-inflation credentials by delivering 0.25% 
increases in Bank Rate in March and May, both of which were implemented. Now we expect further 
0.25% increases in June, August, November and February, with the latter three decisions coinciding 
with updated Bank of England Quarterly Monetary Policy reports. 

• The CPI measure of inflation is now forecast to rise to above 10% in Q4 2022 and the MPC will be 
keen to stifle the prospect of average earnings data (5.4% y/y currently including bonuses) providing 
further upside risk to inflationary factors that are primarily being driven by supply-side shortages.  
Conversely, the Bank indicated at its 5th May meeting that markets may have over-estimated how far 
monetary policy will need to be tightened, as the May Quarterly Monetary Policy report indicated that 
inflation would be considerably below the 2% target by Q1 2025 if rates were tightened to 2.5%. 

• Now that Bank Rate has reached 1%, the MPC has indicated (no earlier than August) that it will also 
consider the extent to which it implements Quantitative Tightening (QT), primarily the selling of its gilt 
holdings, although they are likely to take any such decision cautiously as they are already not 
refinancing maturing debt. 

• Notwithstanding the MPC’s clear desire to increase Bank Rate throughout the first half of 2022, 
negative real earnings, a 54% hike in the Ofgem energy price cap from April, at the same time as 
employees (and employers) incurred a 1.25% Health & Social Care Levy, growing commodity and 
food inflation plus council tax rises - all these factors will hit households’ finances hard.  However, 
lower income families will be hit disproportionately hard despite some limited assistance from the 
Chancellor to postpone the full impact of rising energy costs. 

• Given the above outlook, it poses a question as to whether the MPC may shift into protecting economic 
growth if it flatlines in Q2 and Q3 2022, let alone contracts by -0.9% in Q4.  Accordingly, we remain 
tentative about whether the MPC will increase Bank Rate as far as the market is currently pricing in 
(2.5% in April 2023). 

• In the past months, our forecasts will be guided not only by economic data releases and clarifications 
from the MPC over its monetary policies, but the on-going conflict between Russia and Ukraine, 
including the manner in which the West and NATO respond through sanctions and/or military 
intervention. 

• Currently, oil, gas, wheat and other mainstream commodities have risen significantly in price and 
central banks will have to balance whether they prioritise economic growth or try to counter supply-
side shock induced inflation.  

• On the positive side, consumers are estimated to be sitting on over £160bn of excess savings left over 
from the pandemic so that will cushion some of the impact of the above increases.  However, most of 
those are held by more affluent people whereas lower income families already spend nearly all their 
income before these increases hit and have few financial reserves.  

 

PWLB RATES 

• The yield curve has flattened out considerably and PWLB 5 to 50 years Certainty Rates are, generally, 
in the range of 2.3% to 3%. 

• We view the markets as having built in, already, nearly all the effects on gilt yields of the likely 
increases in Bank Rate and the poor inflation outlook. 

• It is difficult to say currently what effect the Bank of England starting to sell gilts will have on gilt yields 
now that Bank Rate has hit 1%.  Nothing will be decided before August, however, but the Bank is likely 
to act cautiously as it has already started on not refinancing maturing debt.  A pure roll-off of the peak 
£875bn gilt portfolio by not refinancing bonds as they mature, would see the holdings fall to about 
£415bn by 2031, which would be about equal to the Bank’s pre-pandemic holding.  

• Increases in US treasury yields over the next few months could add further upside pressure on gilt 
yields. 

 
 
 
 

94



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 5 

 
The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 

• The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the downside. 
 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include: - 

• Mutations of the Covid virus render current vaccines ineffective, and tweaked vaccines to combat these 
mutations are delayed or unable to be administered fast enough to stop the NHS being overwhelmed. 
 

• Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive and depress economic activity 
(accepting that in the near-term this is also an upside risk to inflation and, thus, rising gilt yields). 

 

• Bank of England acts too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK 
economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  
 

• The Government acts too quickly to increase taxes and/or cut expenditure to balance the national budget. 
 

• UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on trade flows and financial services due to 
complications or lack of co-operation in sorting out significant remaining issues.  

 

• Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine/Russia, Iran, China, North Korea and Middle Eastern countries, 
which could lead to increasing safe-haven flows.  
 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates: - 

• The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, therefore, allows 
inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid 
series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.  
 

• Longer term US treasury yields continue to rise strongly and pull gilt yields up higher than forecast. 

LINK GROUP FORECASTS  

We now expect the MPC to swiftly increase Bank Rate during 2022 to combat the sharp increase in inflationary 
pressures. We do not think that the MPC will embark on a series of increases in Bank Rate that would take it 
to more than 2.00%. 

Gilt yields and PWLB rates 

The general situation is for volatility in bond yields to endure as investor fears and confidence ebb and flow 
between favouring relatively more “risky” assets i.e., equities, or the safe haven of government bonds. The 
overall longer-run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise moderately at most, given the extent to which 
market expectations are already priced in.   

Our target borrowing rates and the current PWLB (certainty) borrowing rates are set out below: - 

PWLB debt Current borrowing 
rate as at 10.5.22 a.m. 

Target borrowing rate 
now 

(end of Q2 2022) 

Target borrowing rate 
previous 

(end of Q2 2022) 

5 year 2.39% 2.50% 2.30% 

10 year 2.74% 2.80% 2.40% 

25 year 3.00% 3.00% 2.50% 

50 year 2.72% 2.70% 2.30% 

Borrowing advice: Our long-term (beyond 10 years) forecast for Bank Rate is 2.00%. As nearly all PWLB 
certainty rates are now above this level, borrowing strategies will need to be reviewed in that context, especially 
as the maturity curve has flattened out considerably.  Better value can be obtained at the shorter end of the 

95



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 6 

curve. Temporary borrowing rates are likely, however, to remain near Bank Rate and may also prove attractive 
as part of a balanced debt portfolio.  

In addition, there are also some cheap alternative sources of long-term borrowing if a client is seeking to avoid 
a “cost of carry” but also wishes to mitigate future re-financing risk. Please speak to your CRM to discuss 
options. 

Our suggested budgeted earnings rates for investments up to about three months’ duration in each financial 
year are as follows: - 

Average earnings in each year Now Previously 

2022/23 1.60% 1.00% 

2023/24 2.00% 1.25% 

2024/25 1.70% 1.25% 

2025/26 1.70% 1.25% 

Years 6 to 10 2.00% 1.50% 

Years 10+ 2.00% 2.00% 

As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect of all interest rate forecasts.  
The general expectation for a trend of moderately rising gilt yields is unchanged.   

Our interest rate forecast for Bank Rate is in steps of 25 bps, whereas PWLB forecasts have been rounded to 
the nearest 10 bps and are central forecasts within bands of + / - 25 bps. Naturally, we continue to monitor 
events and will update our forecasts as and when appropriate. 

Interest Rate Strategy Group 

 

 
This report is intended for the use and assistance of customers of Link Group. It should not be regarded as a substitute for the exercise by 
the recipient of its own judgement. Link Group exists to provide its clients with advice primarily on borrowing and investment.  We are not 
legal experts and we have not obtained legal advice in giving our opinions and interpretations in this paper.  Clients are advised to seek 
expert legal advice before taking action as a result of any advice given in this paper. Whilst Link Group makes every effort to ensure that all 
information provided by it is accurate and complete, it does not guarantee the correctness or the due receipt of such information and will 
not be held responsible for any errors therein or omissions arising there from. Furthermore, Link Group shall not be held liable in contract, 
tort or otherwise for any loss or damage (whether direct, or indirect or consequential) resulting from negligence, delay or failure on the part 
of Link Group or its officers, employees or agents in procuring, presenting, communicating or otherwise providing information or advice 
whether sustained by Link Group customer or any third party directly or indirectly making use of such information or advice, including but 
not limited to any loss or damage resulting as a consequence of inaccuracy or errors in such information or advice. All information supplied 
by Link Group should only be used as a factor to assist in the making of a business decision and should not be used as a sole basis for any 
decision. Treasury services are provided by Link Treasury Services Limited (registered in England and Wales No. 2652033).  
 
Link Treasury Services Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority only for conducting advisory and arranging 
activities in the UK as part of its Treasury Management Service. FCA register number 150403.  Registered office: 6th Floor, 65 Gresham 
Street, London, EC2V 7NQ.  

96



Appendix B 
 
 
Annual Treasury Management Report (Incorporating Outturn Prudential Indicators)  
 
2021/22 
 

Breckland Council 
June 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

97



[Type here] 
 

2 
 

1 Introduction and Background 

1.1  This report summarises the following:-  

 Capital activity during the year; 

 Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness, (the Capital 
Financing Requirement); 

 The actual prudential and treasury indicators; 

 Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in 
relation to this indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances; 

 Summary of interest rate movements in the year; 

 Detailed debt activity; and 

 Detailed investment activity. 

2 The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing  

2.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities 
may either be: 

 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no 
resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or 

 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, 
the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.   

The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  The 
table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed. 

£m  General Fund 
31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

 Capital expenditure 7.246 8.622 6.613 

Financed in year: 
Capital reserves 
Revenue Funding 
PFI Scheme 
Capital Grants and S106 
Agreements 

3.605 
0.219 
0.628 
2.794 

 

1.674 
1.175 
0.152 
2.917 

Unfinanced capital expenditure  0  695 

98



[Type here] 
 

3 
 

3 The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need and Related Prudential Indicators 

3.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  This figure is a gauge of the Council’s 
indebtedness.  The CFR results from the capital activity of the Council and 
resources used to pay for the capital spend.  It represents the 2021/22 unfinanced 
capital expenditure (see above table), and prior years’ net or unfinanced capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for by revenue or other resources.   

 
3.2 Part of the Council’s treasury activities is to address the funding requirements for 

this borrowing need.  Depending on the capital expenditure programme, the 
treasury service organises the Council’s cash position to ensure that sufficient 
cash is available to meet the capital plans and cash flow requirements.  This may 
be sourced through borrowing from external bodies, (such as the Government, 
through the Public Works Loan Board [PWLB], or the money markets), or utilising 
temporary cash resources within the Council. The Council had a positive CFR in 
2021/22 and so had an underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose. 

 
3.3 Reducing the CFR – the Council’s underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not allowed 

to rise indefinitely.  Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital assets are 
broadly charged to revenue over the life of the asset.  The Council is required to 
make an annual revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue Provision – MRP, 
to reduce the CFR.  This is effectively a repayment of the General Revenue 
Account borrowing need. This differs from the treasury management 
arrangements which ensure that cash is available to meet capital commitments.  
External debt can also be borrowed or repaid at any time, but this does not change 
the CFR. In accordance with regulations, MRP does not have to be charged in a 
year when the CFR was negative at the end of the previous financial year. 

 
3.4 The total CFR can also be reduced by: 

 the application of additional capital financing resources, (such as unapplied capital 
receipts); or  

 charging more than the statutory revenue charge (MRP) each year through a 
Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP).  

3.5 The Council’s 2021/22 MRP Policy, (as required by DLUHC Guidance), was 
approved by Full Council as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 
2021/22 on 20th January 2021. 

 
3.6 The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential 

indicator.  It includes PFI and leasing schemes on the balance sheet, which 
increase the Council’s borrowing need.  No borrowing is actually required against 
these schemes as a borrowing facility is included in the contract. The Council has 
complied with this prudential indicator. 

 

99



[Type here] 
 

4 
 

 

CFR (£m): General Fund 
31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

Opening balance  7,557 11,117 7,557 

Add unfinanced capital 
expenditure (as above) 

 

0 

 

(1,279) 

 

695 

Less MRP 0 (539) (539) 

Less PFI & finance lease 
repayments 

(7,780) (7,780) (7,511) 

Closing balance  (223) 1,519 202 

 
Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for gross borrowing and the 
CFR, and by the authorised limit. 
 
Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent 
over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that 
its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the 
capital financing requirement in the preceding year (2021/22) plus the estimates of any 
additional capital financing requirement for the current (2022/23) and next two financial 
years.  This essentially means that the Council is not borrowing to support revenue 
expenditure.  This indicator would allow the Council some flexibility to borrow in 
advance of its immediate capital needs if required.  The table below highlights the 
Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR.  The Council has complied with 
this prudential indicator. 
 

 31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

Gross borrowing position £0.00m £0.00m £0.00m 

CFR (£0.223m) £1.519m £0.202m 

Under / (over) funding of CFR (£0.223m) £1.519m £0.202m 

 
The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required 
by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the Council does 
not have the power to borrow above this level.  The table below demonstrates that 
during 2021/22 the Council has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.  
 
The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either 
below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being 
breached.  
 
Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream. Financing costs to 
net revenue stream are negative for 2021/22, this is because the Council is earning 
interest on its balances as opposed to paying interest on its borrowing. 
 

 2021/22 

100



[Type here] 
 

5 
 

Authorised limit £9.511m 

Maximum gross borrowing position during the year £0.0m 

Operational boundary £7.511m 

Average gross borrowing position  £0.0m 

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream    (0.71%) 

101



[Type here] 
 

6 
 

4 Treasury Position as at 31st March 2022  

4.1 The Council’s treasury management debt and investment position is organised by 
the treasury management service in order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue 
and capital activities, security for investments and to manage risks within all 
treasury management activities. Procedures and controls to achieve these 
objectives are well established both through member reporting detailed in the 
summary, and through officer activity detailed in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices.  At the end of 2021/22 the Council‘s treasury, (excluding 
borrowing by PFI and finance leases), position was as follows: 

 
 

 
   

DEBT PORTFOLIO 
31.3.21 
Principal 

Rate/ 
Return 

Average 
Life yrs 

31.3.22 
Principal 

Rate/ 
Return 

Average 
Life yrs 

Fixed rate funding:        

 -PWLB £0.00m N.a.  £0.00m N.a.  

 -Market £0.00m N.a.  £0.00m N.a.  

Variable rate 
funding:  

 
  

 
  

 -PWLB £0.00m N.a.  £0.00m N.a.  

 -Market £0.00m N.a.  £0.00m N.a.  

Total debt £0.00m N.a. N.a. £0.00m N.a. N.a. 

CFR (£0.223m)   £0.202m   

Over / (under) 
borrowing 

£0.223m 
  

(£0.202m) 
  

Total investments £27.398m 0.28%  £40.562m 0.29%  

102



[Type here] 
 

7 
 

 

 
 

 

The maturity structure of the investment portfolio was as follows: 

 31.3.21 
Actual 
£000 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£000 

Investments 
  Longer than 1 year 
  Up to 1 year 
  Total 

 
270 

27,398 
27,668 

 
270 

40,562 
40,832 

 

  

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 

31.3.21 
Actual 
£000 

 

31.3.21 
Actual 

% 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£000 

31.3.22 
Actual 

% 

Treasury investments     

Banks 13,398 48.90% 23,562 58.09% 

Building Societies - rated 7,000 25.55% 15,000 36.98% 

Local authorities 7,000 25.55% 0  

DMADF (H M Treasury) 0  2,000 4.93% 

Total managed in house 27,398 100% 40,562 100% 

Bond funds 0  0  

Property funds 0  0  

Cash fund managers 0  0  

Total managed externally 0  0  

TOTAL TREASURY INVESTMENTS 27,398 100% 40,562 100% 

Non Treasury investments     

Loans to Breckland Bridge 270  270  

TOTAL NON TREASURY 
INVESTMENTS 

270 
100% 270 

100% 

Treasury investments 27,398 99.02% 40,562 99.34% 

Non Treasury investments 270 0.98% 270 0.66% 

TOTAL  OF ALL  INVESTMENTS 27,668 100% 40,832 100% 

103



[Type here] 
 

8 
 

5.1 Investment strategy and control of interest rate risk 

5.1.1 There were no changes to the Strategy during 2021/22. Investment returns 
remained close to zero for much of 2021/22.  Most local authority lending managed 
to avoid negative rates and one feature of the year was the continued growth of 
inter local authority lending.  The expectation for interest rates within the treasury 
management strategy for 2021/22 was that Bank Rate would remain at 0.1% until 
it was clear to the Bank of England that the emergency level of rates introduced at 
the start of the Covid-19 pandemic was no longer required. 

5.1.2 The Bank of England and the Government also maintained various monetary and 
fiscal measures, supplying the banking system and the economy with massive 
amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses to 
survive the various lockdowns/negative impact on their cashflow. The Government 
also supplied huge amounts of finance to local authorities to pass on to businesses.  
This meant that for most of the year there was much more liquidity in financial 
markets than there was demand to borrow, with the consequent effect that 
investment earnings rates remained low until towards the turn of the year when 
inflation concerns indicated central banks, not just the Bank of England, would need 
to lift interest rates to combat the second-round effects of growing levels of inflation 
(CPI rose to 6.2% by March 2022).  

5.1.3 While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully 
appreciative of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in terms 
of additional capital and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the financial 
crisis. These requirements have provided a far stronger basis for financial 
institutions, with annual stress tests by regulators evidencing how institutions are 
now far more able to cope with extreme stressed market and economic conditions. 

5.1.4 Actual changes in interest rates and in the SONIA benchmark rate are shown in the 
graph and table below. 

Investment Benchmarking Data – Sterling Overnight Index Average 2021/22 
 

 
 

-0.20

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

Bank Rate vs term SONIA rates % 1.4.21 - 31.3.22

Bank Rate SONIA 1 mth 3 mth 6 mth

104



[Type here] 
 

9 
 

 
 
5.2 Borrowing strategy and control of interest rate risk 

5.2.1 During 2021/22, the Council maintained an under-borrowed position.  This meant 
that the capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully 
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and 
cash flow was used as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as 
investment returns were very low and minimising counterparty risk on placing 
investments also needed to be considered. 

5.2.2 A cost of carry remained during the year on any new long-term borrowing that was 
not immediately used to finance capital expenditure, as it would have caused a 
temporary increase in cash balances; this would have incurred a revenue cost – 
the difference between (higher) borrowing costs and (lower) investment returns. 

5.2.3 The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has 
served well over the last few years.  However, this was kept under review to avoid incurring 
higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able to avoid new 
borrowing to finance capital expenditure. 

5.2.4 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was 
adopted with the treasury operations. The Assistant Director Finance therefore monitored 
interest rates in financial markets and adopted a pragmatic strategy based upon the 
following principles to manage interest rate risks. 

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short 
term rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or 
of risks of deflation), then long term borrowings would have been postponed, and 
potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term borrowing would have 
been considered. 

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long 
and short term rates than initially expected, perhaps arising from an acceleration in 
the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an 
increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the 
portfolio position would have been re-appraised.  Most likely, fixed rate funding 
would have been drawn whilst interest rates were lower than they were projected 
to be in the next few years. 

 
5.2.5 Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer-term 

fixed borrowing rates during 2021/22 and the two subsequent financial years until 
the turn of the year, when inflation concerns increased significantly.  Internal, 
variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing 
until well in to the second half of 2021/22.  

 
 

Bank Rate SONIA 1 mth 3 mth 6 mth

High 0.75 0.69 0.75 0.93 1.27

High Date 17/03/2022 18/03/2022 16/03/2022 28/03/2022 17/03/2022

Low 0.10 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05

Low Date 01/04/2021 15/12/2021 10/11/2021 14/04/2021 09/04/2021

Average 0.19 0.14 0.17 0.24 0.34

Spread 0.65 0.65 0.71 0.88 1.22

105



[Type here] 
 

10 
 

5.2.6 Forecasts at the time of approval of the treasury management strategy report 
for 2021/22 were as follows: - 

 

 
 
5.2.7 No external borrowing was undertaken in 2021/22. 
 
6  Investment Outturn  

6.1 Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by DLUHC 
investment guidance, which has been implemented in the annual investment 
strategy approved by the Council on 20th January 2021.  This policy sets out the 
approach for choosing investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings 
provided by the three main credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional 
market data, (such as rating outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.).   

 
6.2 The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and 

the Council had no liquidity difficulties.  
 
6.3 Resources – the Council’s cash balances comprise revenue and capital resources 

and cash flow monies.  The Council’s core cash resources comprised as follows: 
 

Balance Sheet Resources (£m) 31.3.21 31.3.22 

Balances 2.85 2.824 

Earmarked reserves 25.234 18.812 

Provisions (2.462) (2.272) 

Usable capital receipts 0 0 

Total 25.622 19.364 

 
Earmarked reserves reduced over the year as one-off grant funding for Covid-19 
NNDR reliefs that was held in reserves was repaid, since Breckland only retained 
40% of this funding, which covered 100% of lost NNDR income. 

 
6.4 Investments held by the Council – The Council managed all its investments 

internally. 

 The Council maintained an average balance of £40.87m of internally managed 
funds, owing to one-off grants received for expenditure in later years.   

 The internally managed funds earned an average rate of return of 0.2884%.   

 The comparable performance indicator is the SONIA overnight rate, which was 
0.14058%.  

 This compares with a budget assumption of £11.5m investment balances earning 
an average rate of 2.61%. 

 Total investment income was £127,190 compared to a budget of £235,666. This 
was due to delayed timing of loans to 3rd parties at market rates. 

Link Group Interest Rate View  9.11.20

Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24

BANK RATE 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  3 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  6 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

12 month ave earnings 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

5 yr   PWLB 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

10 yr PWLB 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30

25 yr PWLB 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80

50 yr PWLB 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60

106



[Type here] 
 

11 
 

 

7 Performance Measurement 

7.1 One of the key requirements in the Code is the formal introduction of performance 
measurement relating to investments, debt and capital financing activities. The 
Council’s performance indicators were set out in the annual Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement.    

 
7.2 This service has set the following performance indicators and operated within the 

boundaries set as detailed in the March performance report attached as Appendix 
C: 

 

 Security 
Risk of default 
 

 Liquidity 
Liquid short term deposits – The Council requires at least of £5m to be 
available with a month’s notice. 
Weighted Average Life 
Bank Overdraft – The Council’s approved overdraft facility is £2m 
 

 Yield 
As LIBID ceased at 31 December 2021, we consulted with our advisors and 
determined that the SONIA overnight rate would be a suitable replacement 
benchmark. 
Actual interest earned against budget 
 

 

107



[Type here] 
 

12 
 

Investment Portfolio 

Treasury Investments held as at 31st March 2022: 

Investment 
Type Counterparty Principal (£) Start date 

Maturity 
Date 

Lowest 
Long Term 
Credit 
Rating 

Call account Barclays £4,090,288.47 Call Call A 

Call account Handelsbanken £3,472,000.00 Call Call AA- 

Call account Lloyds £5,000,000.00 Call Call A+ 

Call account 
Coventry Building 
Society £5,000,000.00 Call Call A- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

SMBC Bank 
International  £2,000,000.00 04/03/2022 04/04/2022 A 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Yorkshire Building 
Society £2,000,000.00 10/01/2022 11/04/2022 A- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Nationwide 
Building Society £1,000,000.00 17/01/2022 19/04/2022 A 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Goldman Sachs 
International Bank £1,000,000.00 21/10/2021 21/04/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Nationwide 
Building Society £2,000,000.00 25/10/2021 25/04/2022 A 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Yorkshire Building 
Society £2,000,000.00 15/03/2022 03/05/2022 A- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit DMADF £2,000,000.00 15/12/2021 16/05/2022 AA- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Standard 
Chartered Bank £2,000,000.00 21/01/2022 20/05/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Standard 
Chartered Bank £1,000,000.00 22/02/2022 20/05/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Standard 
Chartered Bank £1,000,000.00 21/02/2022 20/05/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Standard 
Chartered Bank £2,000,000.00 23/02/2022 23/05/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Yorkshire Building 
Society £1,000,000.00 15/03/2022 31/05/2022 A- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Nationwide 
Building Society £2,000,000.00 07/12/2021 07/06/2022 A 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Goldman Sachs 
International Bank £2,000,000.00 04/01/2022 04/07/2022 A+ 

  
Total 
Investments £40,562,288.47       

 

 

 

 

 

 

108



Appendix C 
 
Security 
The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns. 

 
Maximum 
risk level 

Actual 
risk level Variance 

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.004% 0.056% 

 
Liquidity 
The Council had an average of £7.64m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  
This was slightly higher than our usual requirement of £5m due to profiling of large cash outflows 
expected at short time frames.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this reporting period.  
The weighted average life (WAL) of investments was 25 days. 

 
Yield 

 Budget Actual Variance 

Interest receivable 2021-22 £235,666 £127,190 £108,476 

Yield (Overnight SONIA1) 0.14058% 0.2884% (0.148%) 

 
The below budgeted income relates to expected loans to 3rd parties at market rates which will not be 
made this year due to timing delays.  
 
Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below. 
 

 
 
   
 
 

                                                 
1 SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average 

24,472,000 , 
58.6%

0 , 0.0%

270,000 , 0.6%

15,000,000 , 
35.9%

0 , 0.0% 2,000,000 , 
4.8%

Counterparty Exposure

banks - UK

Banks - Non UK

Loans to 3rd Parties

building societies

Local authorities

DMADF

Currently 
49% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week. 

109



Meeting Date Agenda Item Officer Responsible

23 June 2022

Quarter 1 Risk Report Executive Director 

Internal Audit Year End Progress Report 2021/22 Internal Audit

Annual Internal Audit Opinon 2021/22 Internal Audit

Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service & 

Actual Prudential Indicators 2021/22 Executive Director

28 July 2022

Standards Report Executive Director

Definition of Key Decision Figure Review Executive Director 

Annual Report on Write-offs over £10,000 Executive Director

Treasury Management Policy & Strategy 2022-23 Executive Director

Draft Statement of Accounts Executive Director 

29 September 2022

Quarter 2 Risk Report Executive Director

Internal Audit Follow Up Report Head of Internal Audit

Internal Audit Progress Report Head of Internal Audit

15 December 2022

Quarter 3 Risk Report Executive Director

Internal Audit Progress Report Head of Internal Audit

Internal Audit Follow Up Report Head of Internal Audit

Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2022-23 Executive Director

09 February 2023

Accounting Policies 2022-23 Executive Director

Quarter 4 Risk Report Executive Director

Internal Audit Progress Report Head of Internal Audit

Internal Audit Follow Up Report Head of Internal Audit

Strategic & Annual Internal Audit Plans 2021/22 Head of Internal Audit

Self-Assessment of Governance & Audit Committee Head of Internal Audit

Treasury Management Policy & Strategy 2023-24 Executive Director

BRECKLAND COUNCIL GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME

110

A
genda Item

 12



Audited Statement of Accounts 2021/22 Executive Director

date tbc Planning Register & General Data Protection Regulations Monitoring Officer

date tbc Standards Review - Code of Conduct Monitoring Officer

111


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Q1 risk report
	Appendix 1 for Q1 risk report
	Appendix 2 for Q1 risk report

	8 Internal Audit Year End Progress Report 2021/22
	BRK Progress report on IA activity Feb 22

	9 Annual Internal Audit Opinion 2021/22
	BRK Annual report and opinion 2021-22

	10 Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service and Actual Prudential Indicators 2021/22
	Appendix A for Treasury Management Outturn 21-22
	Appendix B for Treasury Management Outturn 21-22
	Appendix C for Treasury Management Outturn 21-22

	12 Work Programme

